Village of Chaumont Dissolution Study And Dissolution Plan

July, 2012

Prepared by: Village of Chaumont Dissolution Study Committee

> Committee Consultant: Center for Governmental Research Vicki Brown, Project Director

This document was prepared with funds provided by the New York State Department of State under the Local Government Efficiency Grant Program – Grant No. T-098840

> 1 South Washington Street Suite 400 Rochester, NY 14614 585.325.6360



www.cgr.org

©Copyright CGR Inc. 2012 - All Rights Reserved

Village of Chaumont Dissolution Study And Dissolution Plan

SUMMARY

The Village of Chaumont is located in northern Jefferson County in New York State. The Village was established in 1874 and consists of one square mile in the 55.8 land square miles of the Town of Lyme. Based on 2010 U.S. Census data, the Village's population of 625 accounts for about 29% of the overall Town population.

The Village Board applied for and was awarded a high priority planning grant from New York State's Local Government Efficiency (LGE) program to conduct a dissolution study and develop a Village dissolution plan. The Village appointed a sixmember Committee of Village and Town representatives and in 2011 engaged the Center for Governmental Research (CGR) as study consultant.

This report represents the Final Report and Plan developed by the Study Committee. The Committee's work is complete with delivery of this report to the Village Board, which will decide whether to put the question of dissolution before Village voters on November 6, 2012. If the Dissolution Plan, as developed by the Committee, is submitted to Village voters and approved by them, the Village of Chaumont will dissolve on January 1, 2014.

Report Format

This report consists of three main parts and an appendix.

Part One provides a general background to local government services in the Village and Town. It served as the baseline on which the Committee subsequently developed *Part Two*, which outlines the viable options for the future for the wider community. A complete fiscal and tax impact analysis of dissolution is included in the second part of the report. *Part Three* is the Dissolution Plan for Chaumont, which is based on the options endorsed by the Study Committee. The final component of the report is an Appendix, consisting of the following:

Appendix A: Chaumont 2011 -12 and Lyme 2012 budgets, the fiscal year budgets used in this study and on which the Committee based its tax projections.

Appendix B: Summary of key provisions of the Town's contract covering employees represented by Teamster Local 687.

Appendix C: List of assets of the Village and Town, as provided by the municipalities.

Appendix D: Map showing the boundaries of the Village of Chaumont, made available by the Jefferson County Real Property Office.

Appendix E: The Study Committee's 6-20-12 PowerPoint presentation to the public on the Dissolution Plan for Chaumont.

Appendix F: Responses to questions residents asked at the public forums held by the Study Committee on May 1 and June 20, 2012.

Public Engagement

To ensure the public had the opportunity to be engaged in the study, the Study Committee:

- Posted key documents and information at a special project website: <u>www.cgr.org/chaumont</u>
- Held six Committee meetings, all open to the public.
- Presented an initial "report to the community" in December 2011.
- Presented a public forum in May 2012 on Parts One and Two of the study.
- Presented a public forum in June 2012 on the proposed Dissolution Plan to solicit community feedback prior to finalizing the report and plan.

Conclusion

This Village Board- initiated study and plan were developed by the Committee in accordance with the New York state law that governs dissolution and consolidation of local government entities. The law is known as Article 17-A of General Municipal Law.

It is now up to the Village Board to decide whether to put the issue of dissolving the Village before Chaumont voters in November 2012.

Acknowledgements

CGR is very grateful to Study Committee members for their commitment and support in developing this report. Community members serving on the Committee were:

Bill Borden – Committee Chair and Village Trustee Valerie Rust – Village Mayor Scott Aubertine – Town Supervisor Dan Villa – Town Councilman Sue Cornell – Village resident Scott Radley – Village resident Don Bourquin – Town Councilman (alternate) Jim Price – Village Trustee (alternate)

CGR also acknowledges the considerable assistance of Village and Town staff members, especially:

Paula Radley, Village Clerk-Treasurer Patrick Weston, Town Highway Superintendent Kim Wallace, Town Clerk Roswell Gotham, Town Payroll Clerk Marsha Barton, Assessor

CGR also thanks staff of the Jefferson County Real Property Office for their assistance with this study.

Staff Team

This project was directed by Vicki Brown, CGR Associate Director. Charles Zettek and Hannah Dalager provided key assistance with this project.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Summary	i
Report Format	i
Public Engagement	ii
Conclusion	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Staff Team	iii
Table of Contents	iv
Introduction and Context	1
Dissolution Study Process and Requirements	2
Part One: What Exists	3
History, Size and Structure of the Community	3
Financial Background Overview	5
Complexity of Local Taxation	5
Where Your Tax Dollars Go	6
How Local Tax Rates Are Applied	7
How Tax Rates Are Calculated	7
Current Tax Levies	7
Taxable Assessed Value	7
Tax Exempt Property	8
Estimating Impact on the Tax Rate	8
Current Tax Rates	9
Revenues and Expenditures for the Village and Town	9
Summary of Expenditures	11
Village and Town Fund Balances	
Village and Town Debt	13
Village and Town Staffing Overview	14
Employee Benefits	15
How Services Are Currently Delivered	
General Government Operations	
Village Mayor, Town Supervisor and Trustees	
Current Boards	
Municipal Property	
Inter-municipal Agreements and Contract Summary	
Administrative Staff	
Assessment Services	21

	04
Other General Government Services	
Department of Public Works & Highway Services	
Village Public Works Services	
Town Highway Water and Sewer Overview	
Lyme Water Districts	
Village Water & Sewer	
Water Billing	
Village Water System Fiscal Status	
Village Sewer	
Sewer Billing	
Village Sewer System Fiscal Status	
Transfer Station	
Public Safety	
Police	
Fire, Ambulance & Emergency Response	
Code Enforcement	
Recreation	
Court	
Street Lighting	31
Special Contributions	
Part Two: Options for the Future	33
Special Considerations in Developing Options for the Future	
Committee Identified No Significant Opportunities for Additional Service Sha	
Operational Changes Impacting the Village – That, Due to Timing, Are Not Reflected in Current Budget	34
Recommended Options If the Village Dissolves	35
Important Notes about Recommended Options	35
General Government	36
Animal Control	37
DPW/Highway	37
Code Enforcement / Planning / Zoning	37
Recreation	38
Special Contributions by the Village	38
Garbage & Refuse	38
Street Lighting	38

Fire & Emergency Response	38
About Fees for Water Service	39
About Fees for Sewer Service	40
Property Tax Impact Projections	40
Citizen Empowerment Tax Credit (CETC): NYS Incentive When Two Local Governments Consolidate	41
Loss of Gross Utilities Receipt Tax Revenue	42
Impact of Cost Shifts	42
New Town Property Tax Rate Projections	43
Part Three: Dissolution Plan	49
Appendix	

INTRODUCTION AND CONTEXT

The Village of Chaumont has an estimated population of 625 residents and encompasses about one square mile in the 55.8 land square miles of the Town of Lyme, which is located in northern Jefferson County, New York. Based on 2010 U.S. Census data, the Village accounts for about 29% of the overall Town population.

In recent years, the Village and Town have actively pursued working more closely together. The Village's two full-time employees (Clerk-Treasurer and Department of Public Works employee) and its part-time DPW laborer are housed in the Town of Lyme Municipal Building. Since there is no DPW superintendent, the Town Highway superintendent supervises, as needed, the Village DPW workers. In 2011, the Town appointed the Village Clerk-Treasurer to collect Town taxes when a vacancy occurred in the elected Town tax collector position,¹ and in November 2011 she was elected to a four-year term. Some key municipal services, notably court and assessor services, are provided solely by the Town.

In 2010, the Village Board applied for and was awarded a high priority planning grant from New York State's Local Government Efficiency (LGE) program. The Village appointed a six-member committee² and engaged the Center for Governmental Research (CGR) as study consultant. The Board charged the Committee with preparing a dissolution study, dissolution plan and alternatives to dissolution. The Board's objective was to provide residents with information on viable service delivery options for increasing government efficiency and promoting taxpayer savings. Detailed information on the study is available on the Committee's website: <u>www.cgr.org/chaumont</u>.

In Part One of this Report the Dissolution Study Committee provides an overview of municipal services and financial information based upon current operations of the Village and Town governments as reflected in the 2011-12 Village and Town 2012 budgets. This overview also points out that significant operational changes occurred in the Village's 2011-12 fiscal year that significantly impacted the Village. Based on its review of what exists, the Committee prepared Part Two, which identifies opportunities for cost savings and efficiencies, achieved through full consolidation, which would involve dissolving the Village and merging operations in the Town. Part Two also outlines what savings might be achieved through additional shared services, as an alternative to dissolving the Village. Part Three of this report is the Chaumont Dissolution Plan, which is based on work completed earlier in the study.

With delivery of this Final Report and Plan to the Village Board it will be up to the Board to determine next steps, as described below.

¹ The Town and the Village use the same tax collection software

² Village Mayor Valerie Rust, Village Trustee William Borden, Town Supervisor Scott Aubertine, Town Councilman Daniel Villa, and Village residents Suzann Cornell and Scott Radley

Dissolution Study Process and Requirements

The Village Board–initiated study and plan were developed in accordance with the relevant state law governing dissolution and consolidation of local government entities, known as Article 17-A of General Municipal Law.

Under Article 17-A, the Village Board may choose to endorse the Committee's proposed dissolution plan or it could opt to take no action. If the Board endorses the plan, it must hold at least one public hearing. Following its final public hearing, the Board has three options: approve the plan as is, amend the plan, or end the board-initiated dissolution process. If the Board decides to proceed, it must then also enact a resolution calling for a referendum on the dissolution. If the subsequent referendum passes, the Village will dissolve on the date set forth in the final plan.³ If the referendum fails, the Village will not dissolve and the dissolution process may not be initiated by the Village Board again for four years.

If the Village Board decides to put the issue of dissolving the Village before Chaumont voters, the Board would do so at the regular election on November 6, 2012, and if approved by voters, dissolution would take place on January 1, 2014.

Should the Village Board not endorse the Committee's plan or decline to proceed with a referendum following its own public hearing⁴, Village voters would have an option to begin a voter-initiated dissolution process. This process is initiated by submission of a petition, signed by at least 20% of electors (i.e., registered voters) of the Village. Once the petition is submitted and the signatures and petition are validated, the Village Board would be required to enact a resolution calling for a referendum on dissolution. The referendum would be held within 60-90 days of the resolution. If the referendum passed, the Village would dissolve on the date specified in the Plan.

³ In draft documents the effective dissolution date had been proposed as December 31, 2013. The Study Committee's final recommendation is that dissolution, if approved by Chaumont voters, should be effective on January 1, 2014.

⁴ The Village has scheduled a public hearing for August 21, 2012, contingent upon the Village Board endorsing the Chaumont Dissolution Plan.

PART ONE: WHAT EXISTS History, Size and Structure of the Community

The Village of Chaumont, located in northern Jefferson County, is known for having one of the largest freshwater bays in the world. The area in which the Village is located is popular with both tourists and fishing enthusiasts. Established in 1874, the Village consists of one square mile in the 55.8 land square miles of the Town of Lyme.

As Table 1 shows (and Figure 1 illustrates), the Village and Town populations are currently the largest they have been in the past 60 years. The Village population has remained fairly stable, growing 5% over the past two decades. The Town-outside-Village (TOV), however, has grown about 40% over the past two decades. The Village accounts for 29% of the total Town population.

Population of Village and Town			
Year	Village of Chaumont	Town of Lyme	Town outside Village
1950	513	1,458	945
1960	523	1,448	925
1970	567	1,550	983
1980	620	1,695	1,075
1990	593	1,701	1,108
2000	592	2,015	1,423
2010	624	2,185	1,561

Table 1

Source: U.S. Census Bureau Note: Shaded is peak.

Figure 1



Figure 2 shows the location of the Village and Town along with the three school districts in the community. Although the school districts are not part of the dissolution study and will not be affected by any dissolution plan, they are shown on the map to illustrate the multi-layered government structure that is common in New York.





Financial Background Overview

The information in this section is provided to assist residents in understanding the relationship of Village and Town taxes to the total property tax burden. Figures shown for Chaumont and Lyme are for the 2011-12 Village budget and 2012 Town budget.

Complexity of Local Taxation

Property owners in the Town of Lyme, including the Village of Chaumont, pay several different levels of taxes depending on where they own property and the types of services they receive. Table 2 illustrates the many layers of local taxation within the municipalities (excluding federal and state taxes) for property-owners in the Village and in the Town-outside-Village (TOV).

Table 2

Town and Village Tax Rates per \$1,000 Taxable Assessed Value FY 2012					
Village of Chaumont					
County	\$20.53	\$20.53			
Townwide	\$0.80	\$0.80			
Townwide General (A)	\$0.26	\$0.26			
Townwide Highway (DA)	\$0.55	\$0.55			
TOV ¹	-	\$0.00			
Village ²	\$9.52	-			
School ³	-	-			
Lyme CSD ⁴	\$30.30	\$30.30			
General Brown	\$27.45	\$27.45			
Thousand Island \$31.02 \$31.02					
Lyme Fire Protection - \$1.54					
Three Mile Bay Light District-\$1.68					

Source: Jefferson County Real Property Office

1. Town-outside-Village.

2. Village tax rates are from 2011-2012.

3. The School tax rates include the applicable Library tax and are as of September 2011.

4. Most residents, including all Village residents, live in the Lyme School District.

NOTE: It is important to point out that the figures in Table 2 include the use of applied fund balance by the Town. At the end of each year, every municipality either over or under spends relative to the revenue it receives. These surpluses or negative amounts are tracked over time in accounts designated as fund balance. Municipalities may draw from an account and apply fund balance to reduce the overall tax levy for a given year.

In 2012 the Town applied \$375,000 in fund balance (\$225,000 from the Townwide general fund and \$150,000 from the Townwide highway fund) to reduce the Townwide tax rate by \$3.36 per \$1,000. To allow for comparison, the following tables include the same total fund balance applied in the current tax rates.

Where Your Tax Dollars Go

Figures 3 and 4 highlight the percentage of total taxes paid to the various layers of government that impact the Chaumont and Lyme community (excluding state and federal taxes). The largest single influence on taxes for a Village or Town taxpayer is school taxes.⁵ As the pie charts illustrate, the next biggest influence on taxes is the County tax rate. After that, tax rates depend on where one lives.







CGR

⁵ Most residents, including all Village residents, live in the Lyme School District. Calculations are based on Lyme School District tax rate.

How Local Tax Rates Are Applied

Residents in the Town of Lyme are subject to different tax rates as a result of whether they live in the Village of Chaumont or in the Town-outside-Village (TOV), and the corresponding services they receive. Village residents are taxed both a Townwide tax for Townwide services and a Village tax for services and functions associated with the Village government.

Residents who live outside the Village (TOV) pay the same Townwide tax as Village residents and pay separate TOV taxes for services provided by the Town outside of the Village, such as fire protection or, for Three Mile Bay residents, for street lighting in the hamlet. Residents of the Village and TOV are also subject to additional local taxes such as county and school taxes.

How Tax Rates Are Calculated

Tax rates are the amount a taxpayer would be taxed, usually expressed as a rate per \$1,000 of a property's assessed valuation. The tax rate is determined by dividing a municipality's total tax levy by its total taxable assessed value (TAV), and multiplying it by \$1,000.

 $\mathbf{TAX RATE} = \underbrace{\text{TOTAL TAX LEVY}}_{X 1,000}$

TOTAL TAXABLE ASSESSED VALUE

Current Tax Levies

The 2011-12 tax levy (property tax) for the Village of Chaumont was \$115,450 and the 2012 Townwide levies were \$28,707 for the Townwide general fund and \$60,892 for the Townwide highway fund. There are no taxes for the TOV general or highway funds, as other revenue sources are expected to offset expenditures from those funds. The combined tax levy for the Village and Town, excluding special district *but including applied fund balance,* was \$205,049

Taxable Assessed Value

The Village and Town have different property valuations across which to spread their respective tax levies. The Taxable Assessed Value (TAV) of property within each municipality is the base by which the tax levy is shared across the community. For 2012, the Village had a TAV of about \$12.1 million and the Town-outside-Village (TOV) had a TAV of about \$99.4 million. It is important to note that the figures shown in Table 3 are the taxable assessed values and do not include the property value for tax-exempt properties covered in the next section. It is also important to note that both the Town of Lyme and Village of Chaumont have equalization rates of 31%, meaning they are assessed at 31% of current market value.⁶

⁶ The equalization rate is the state's measure of a municipality's level of assessment (LOA). This is the ratio of total assessed value (AV) to the municipality's total market value (MV). An equalization rate of 100 is at market value, the lower the equalization rate the longer it has probably been since the last reassessment. The municipality determines the AV while the MV is estimated by the state. (Source: NYS Office of Real Property Services)

Table 3 also reflects the proportional difference in TAV between the Village and the TOV. The Village of Chaumont makes up 11% of the TAV of the entire Town while the TOV represents 89% of the total Town TAV. The TAV of the TOV fire protection district is just over \$100 million, likely due to fewer TOV properties being tax exempt from fire service taxes.

Taxable Assessed Value Fiscal Year 2012					
TAV % of total					
Village	\$12,121,551	11%			
точ	\$99,369,119	89%			
Total Town	\$111,490,670	100%			
Fire Protection	\$100,396,747				

Tab	le 3
-----	------

Source: Jefferson County Real Property Tax Service

Tax Exempt Property

Based on the assessed values for 2012, 53% of the Town tax-exempt property is in the Village of Chaumont and 47% is in the TOV.

Table 4

Tax Exempt Value Fiscal Year 2012				
Exempt Value % of Total				
Village	\$3,852,185	53%		
τον	\$3,401,477	47%		
Total	\$7,253,662	100%		

Source: Jefferson County Real Property Tax Service

Estimating Impact on the Tax Rate

Because the Village and Town have different property valuations across which to spread their respective tax levies, every change in the budget will impact the property tax rate differently.

For example, for every \$10,000 change in the budget (either in revenues or expenses) the impact on the property tax rate per \$1,000 assessed value is summarized below:

Tax Impact per \$10,000 Change in the Budget					
Tax Levy Change Tax Rate Change per \$1,000 TAV					
Village of Chaumont	\$10,000	\$0.82			
Town -outside-Village	\$10,000	\$0.10			
Lyme Townwide*	\$10,000	\$0.09			

Note: Based on the taxable assessed values used by the Town to calculate tax rates.

As the table indicates, due to the fact that the Village of Chaumont's taxable assessed value is much smaller than that of the Town-outside-Village, changes in Village tax levies or revenues have a much larger impact on Village tax rates.

Current Tax Rates

For the 2011-12 fiscal year, a Village taxpayer pays county, Village, Townwide and school district taxes. TOV residents pay county, Townwide, school district and Lyme Fire Protection taxes. The total local tax rate per \$1,000 of assessed value (excluding county and school tax) in 2011-12 was \$10.32 for a Village taxpayer and \$2.34 for a TOV taxpayer. This is shown in Table 6. Based on these rates, a tax-payer with an assessed property value of \$100,000 would pay \$1,032 per year in the Village and \$234 in the TOV. *Note that county and school taxes are excluded from the local tax rates as these rates are not affected by the shared service or dissolution modeling covered in this report, but that the rates do reflect fund balances applied by the Town.*

Table 6

Summary of 2012 FY Tax Rates on Sample \$100,000 Property					
Total Tax Rate per \$1,000 Estimated Annual Tax Bill					
Village of Chaumont	\$10.32	\$1,032			
τον	\$2.34	\$234			

Note: Based on 2012 tax rates, excluding school, county, state and federal taxes. The TOV tax rate includes the Townwide tax and the Lyme Fire Protection District tax, but does not include the Three Mile Bay Light District tax, which applies only to a small portion of the Town.

Revenues and Expenditures for the Village and Town

For the current fiscal year, the Village has a total budget of \$596,650 and the Town budget is just under \$2.2 million. As a community, the combined budgets total nearly \$2.8 million, as shown in Table 7 on the next page. Detailed budget information can be found in Appendix A.

Village of Chaumont and Town of Lyme Expenditures and Revenues						
Fund	Town of Lyme 2012 Budget	% of Town	Village of Chaumont 2011-2012 Budget	% of Village	Community Total	% of Community Total
Expenditures	\$2,199,863	100%	\$596,650	100%	\$2,796,513	100%
A - General	\$858,589	39%	\$274,550	46%	\$1,133,139	41%
B - General TOV	\$68,096	3%	\$0	0%	\$68,096	2%
DA - Highway	\$696,892	32%	\$0	0%	\$696,892	25%
DB - Highway TOV	\$241,890	11%	\$0	0%	\$241,890	9%
F - Water	\$0	0%	\$149,400	25%	\$149,400	5%
F1 - Water District 1	\$20,305	1%	\$0	0%	\$20,305	1%
F2 - Water District 2	\$102,541	5%	\$0	0%	\$102,541	4%
F3 - Water District 3	\$413	0%	\$0	0%	\$413	0%
F4 - Water District 4	\$17,692	1%	\$0	0%	\$17,692	1%
F5 - Water District 5	\$33,625	2%	\$0	0%	\$33,625	1%
G - Sewer	\$0	0%	\$172,700	29%	\$172,700	6%
SF - Fire District	\$154,000	7%	\$0	0%	\$154,000	6%
SL - Lighting District	\$5,820	0%	\$0	0%	\$5,820	0%
Revenues	\$1,735,264	100%	\$435,373	100%	\$2,170,637	100%
A - General	\$604,882	35%	\$159,540	37%	\$764,422	35%
B - General TOV	\$68,096	4%	\$0	0%	\$68,096	3%
DA - Highway	\$486,000	28%	\$0	0%	\$486,000	22%
DB - Highway TOV	\$241,890	14%	\$0	0%	\$241,890	11%
F - Water	\$0	0%	\$150,279	35%	\$150,279	7%
F1 - Water District 1	\$20,305	1%	\$0	0%	\$20,305	1%
F2 - Water District 2	\$102,541	6%	\$0	0%	\$102,541	5%
F3 - Water District 3	\$413	0%	\$0	0%	\$413	0%
F4 - Water District 4	\$17,692	1%	\$0	0%	\$17,692	1%
F5 - Water District 5	\$33,625	2%	\$0	0%	\$33,625	2%
G - Sewer	\$0	0%	\$125,554	29%	\$125,554	6%
SF - Fire District	\$154,000	9%	\$0	0%	\$154,000	7%
SL - Lighting District	\$5,820	0%	\$0	0%	\$5,820	0%
Use of Fund Balance	\$375,000	22%	\$17,000	4%	\$392,000	18%
A - General	\$225,000	60%	\$0	0%	\$225,000	10%
DA - Highway	\$150,000	9%	\$0	0%	\$150,000	7%
G - Sewer	\$0	0%	\$17,000	4%	\$17,000	1%
Property Tax	\$249,419	14%	\$115,450	27%	\$364,869	17%
A - General	\$28,707	2%	\$115,450	27%	\$144,157	7%
B - General TOV	\$0	0%	\$0	0%	\$0	0%
DA - Highway	\$60,892	4%	\$0	0%	\$60,892	3%
SF - Fire District	\$154,000	9%	\$0	0%	\$154,000	7%
SL - Lighting District	\$5,820	0%	\$0	0%	\$5,820	0%
Increased Fees (Revenue)	\$0,820 \$0	0%	\$30,146	7%	\$30,146	1%
G - Sewer	\$0 \$0	0%	\$30,146	7%	\$30,146	1%

Table 7

Notes to Table 7:

The Town's 2012 budget includes approximately \$970,000 in sales tax distribution from Jefferson County (44% of total Town revenues). The Village budget includes \$111,000 in sales tax monies (approximately 19% of total Village revenues).

Summary of Expenditures

As shown in Figure 5, during the 2011-12 fiscal year, the Village of Chaumont budgeted 24% of total expenditures on water, 21% on sewer and sanitation, and 13% on debt service (primarily for sewer, but a portion was for water debt). DPW operations represent the fourth largest expenditure for the Village, accounting for 11% of expenditures. By comparison, the Town of Lyme spent 35% of total expenditures on highway functions. The Town's next largest category was employee benefits, accounting for 13% of expenditures. Public safety and fire protection made up 8% of expenditures, followed by sewer and sanitation⁷, and shared services, both at 7%. Figures 5 and 6 show the breakdown of Village and Town expenditures by function.



⁷ For the Town of Lyme, this category is for refuse and garbage-related services. There is no sewer service in the TOV.



Figure 6

Village and Town Fund Balances

At the end of each fiscal year, every municipality either over or under spends relative to the revenue it receives. These surpluses or negative amounts are tracked over time in an account designated as fund balance. Tracking fund balance is a helpful tool to analyze how well a municipality is budgeting and how it handles excess (reserve) resources in future years. According to the Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA), a local municipality should have approximately two months of expenditures on reserve in order to properly manage financial affairs for the community.⁸ On average this would be between 5% -15%t of the municipalities' budget. Table 8 presents the fund balances at the close of each municipality's most recent fiscal year and show:

• At the end of the 2010-2011 fiscal year, the Village had a total fund balance of about \$105,800. The fund balance for the general fund was nearly \$59,000, the water fund about \$18,000, and the sewer fund about \$29,000.⁹

⁸ <u>http://www.gfoa.org/downloads/caafr-appropriate-level.pdf</u>

⁹ Updated information for the Village fund balances is shown in Part 3 – Chaumont Dissolution Plan, which was completed at the end of the study process. As of May 31, 2012, Village fund balances totaled nearly \$107,800.

• Based on CGR's reading of the Town's year-end financial report, the Town had a total fund balance of \$977,000 apportioned into general, highway, water and other funds as shown in Table 8 below.

	Fund Balances				
	Fund/Purpose	Fund Balance			
Village of	General Fund (A)	\$58,936			
Chaumont	Water Fund (F)	\$17,958			
As of	Sewer Fund (G)	\$28,897			
5/31/11	Total	\$105,791			
	General Fund (A & B)	\$565,295			
	Highway (DA & DB)	\$292,859			
	Townwide (DA)	\$255,265			
	Town-outside-Village (DB)	\$37,594			
	Water District 1	\$1,010			
Town of	Water District 2	\$298			
Lyme	Water District 3	\$12			
As of	Water District 4	\$60			
12/31/11	Water District 5	\$15,643			
	Water Reserve Fund	\$82,837			
	Three Mile Bay Fund	\$12,359			
	Fox Creek Burial Grounds	\$4,726			
	Lyme Consolidated Health District	\$2,074			
	Total	\$977,174			

Table 8

Source: Village and Town

Village and Town Debt

At the end of calendar year 2011, the Village had \$1.86 million in outstanding debt and the Town had \$907,100 in debt. Table 9 lists the outstanding debt principals.

Table 9

Outstanding Debt			
	Purpose	Principal Outstanding	
_	Water Fund ¹	\$88,000	
Chaumont (As of 12/31/11)	Sewer Fund ²	\$1,768,000	
	Total	\$1,856,000	
	Water District #1	\$44,000	
	Water District #2	\$423,300	
Lyme (As of 12-31-11*)	Water District #4	\$89,800	
	Water District #5	\$350,000	
	Total	\$907,100	

Source: Village and Town

¹ \$34,000 of Water Fund debt is for repairs to the water tower, with annual payment in August of \$5,000 plus 3.25% interest, and debt will be paid off in 2018. Remaining \$54,000 is balance outstanding on 2011 debt to purchase 200 digital water meters and readers (radio read equipment). Village pays \$6,000 plus 3.25% interest annually in November, and debt will be paid off in 2021.

² The Sewer Fund debt is for the wastewater treatment plant and sewer line system installation project throughout the Village. The initial principal was nearly \$2.4 million. Payments are made each October, and the 2011-12 total due was \$72,000. The payment increases most years by \$1,000, and the debt will be paid off in 2032.

*Town debt is estimated, based on 2010 outstanding principals minus 2011 payments made. Final amounts reported by Rural Development may vary slightly. Water District #5 is new, with first payment due in 2012.

Village and Town Staffing Overview

Table 10 gives an overview of the Village and Town staffing as of March 2012. The Village has 2 fulltime employees, 1 part-time laborer, 1 part-time code enforcement officer, a mayor and 4 trustees. The Town has 10 fulltime employees – 8 in Highway, 1 at the Transfer site, and an elected Town Clerk. Another 20 employees work part-time for the Town, including 11 filling elected positions (supervisor, council members, assessors, tax collector, judges). The remaining part-time staff members include 5 at the transfer site, 1 in code enforcement, 1 deputy Town clerk, and 1 police officer (the Town is seeking to fill this recently vacated position). The table does not include staff members who are very part-time or seasonal (e.g., recreation, cemetery) or members of boards (e.g., planning, zoning, water) or contracts for professional services (e.g., attorney, engineer). The notes to the table provide additional information, including details on employees shown in Table 10 who also perform other duties for the Town.

2012 Staffing*					
	Chau	Imont	Ly	me	Combined
	Full Time	Part Time	Full time	Part Time	TOTAL
Mayor/Town Supervisor		1		1	2
Trustee/Councilman		4		4	9
V. Clerk-Treasurer/Town Clerk	1		1		2
Deputy Clerk				1	1
Assessor				3	3
Code Enforcement/Zoning		1		1	2
Hwy Supt			1		1
DPW Employees	1	1			2
Highway MEO			7		7
Tax Collector				1	1
Judge				2	2
Police Officer**				1	1
Transfer Site			1	5	6
Totals (without double counting)	2	7	10	19	38

Table 10

* Part-time staff in the following areas are not listed on in the table due to the relatively small number of hours worked: Recreation, Cemetery, Cleaning, Planning, Zoning and Water Boards, and an assistant (second deputy clerk) to the Town Clerk who works just a few hours a week.

** Police position is vacant, recruiting is in progress

Note: Some Town personnel listed in Table 10 have additional duties:

1 Town assessor also handles water billing

1 Town assessor also serves as payroll clerk

Deputy Town Clerk also serves as clerk to both the Town Court and Zoning Board Town Clerk is also the receiver of water payments for the Town

Employee Benefits

In addition to federally mandated Social Security and Medicare benefits, in 2011 the Village Clerk-Treasurer received a portion of her health plan coverage (and 100% dental plan) paid by the Village. The fulltime Village DPW employee had the same benefits, excluding health care coverage, plus received other specified benefits (e.g., phone, boot allowance). Part-time Village staff received only mandated Social Security and Medicare benefits. The only significant change in the type of benefits available to Village staff in 2012 involves retirement. In mid-February, the Village Clerk-Treasurer, and both DPW employees became eligible to join the state retirement system. As of spring 2012, the Village had not received its first bill for the Village's share of retirement costs. Village also currently has no obligations regarding post-retirement benefits.

In the Town, only Highway employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement (see Appendix B for a summary of current contract between the Town and Teamster Local 687). However, all fulltime employees are eligible for health care coverage, with Highway staff coverage dictated by the union contract,¹⁰ and other fulltime staff eligible for health/dental coverage provided through the Town. Fulltime staff members who are not covered by the union can opt to receive payment equal to one-third of the cost of the Town-provided health¹¹ plan, referred to as a "buy back." All full- and part-time staff members receive Town-paid Social Security and Medicare benefits. The Town contributes to the NYS Retirement System for all Highway employees and for three other staff members.

The next sections of this report provide detailed information for key functional areas for the Village and Town. Each section presents an overview of how current services are provided.

How Services Are Currently Delivered

General Government Operations

Village and Town governments provide a range of services to persons and property within their municipal boundaries. Specific functions such as public works and fire are described in more detail in separate sections of this report. This section provides information about the services, costs and revenues that support general government operations. These descriptions are intended to address the general budget categories as shown in the Village and Town budgets. More detailed information about the categories is shown in Appendix A, which contains the detailed budget comparisons for the Village and Town.

Village Mayor, Town Supervisor and Trustees

The annual cost of salaries for the Mayor and 4 Village trustees is \$12,000. The parttime Mayor receives a salary of \$5,000 and each Trustee receives \$1,750. The total expenditure for Mayor and Board member benefits, which consist of Social Security and Medicare employer contributions, is \$918.

In the Town, the part-time Supervisor receives a salary of \$10,300¹² and the aggregate salary for the 4 Town Board members totals \$19,540. The total expenditure for Town Supervisor and Board member benefits, which consist of Social Security and Medicare employer contributions, is \$2,283.

¹⁰ Town highway staff, per union contract, must take union health benefits

¹¹ Town health plan includes dental

¹² The Supervisor also serves as the Town's Consolidated Health Officer, for which he receives \$1,000 in salary and about

^{\$77} in Social Security/Medicare benefits.

Current Boards

Both the Town and Village support volunteer boards. The Village has a Planning Board and members serve without compensation. The Town has Planning, Zoning and Water Boards. The members of the Town's Water Board, which meets monthly, receive small stipends, for which the Town currently budgets a total of \$4,775. The comparable amount for the Town's Planning and Zoning Boards is approximately \$3,500 per board.

Municipal Property

The Village and Town each own a variety of property and assets that allow them to fulfill their governmental and service functions on behalf of the community. Tables 11-12 list municipally-owned properties. Lists of major assets owned by the Village and Town are provided in Appendix C.

Chaumont - Village Owned Property				
Parcel ID	Street	Class #	Property Class	Total AV
61.08-1-9.2	27831 Co Rte 179	823	Water Treatment	\$21,500
61.34-1-25.3	NYS Rte 12E	330	Vacant Comm.	\$3,000
61.42-2-18.3	Co Rte. 179	311	Res Vac Land	\$100
62.00-2-2	Morris Tract Rd	323	Vacant Rural	\$100
61.11-1-18.1	27870 Bay View Dr	590W	Park	\$66,000
61.11-1-80	27002 Hart Rd	820	Water-Public	\$100,000
61.34-1-23.1	W Main St	557	Outdoor Sport	\$65,600
61.34-1-23.3	SW of Main St	590	Park	\$7,000
61.34-1-25.1	11334 Circle Dr	651	Hwy Garage	\$12,600
61.42-2-1	Cor W Main & Water	972W	Underwater	\$5,500
61.43-1-4	N of E Main St	822	Water Supply	\$90,000
61.43-1-3.2	N of NYS Rte 12E	311	Res Vac Land	\$200

Table 11

Source: Jefferson County Office of Real Property

Ta	bl	е	1	2
		-		

Lyme - Town Owned Property				
Parcel ID	Street	Class #	Property Class	Total AV
50.00-2-18	NE of Swamp Road	314	Rural Vac Land	\$100
50.00-2-23.3	29565/560 Ashland	311	Res vac land	\$1,500
50.00-2-37.3	Co Rte 57	695	Cemetery	\$1,000
51.00-1-13.22	Robinson Road	695	Cemetery	\$100
51.00-1-3	N of Ashland Rd	695	Cemetery	\$200
51.00-1-40	E of Ashland Rd	695	Cemetery	\$2,200
60.08-1-11	NYS Rte 12E	695	Cemetery	\$28,000
60.11-1-1	27990 Co Rte 57	852	Landfill	\$47,300
60.11-1-66.1	S of County Rte 57	323	Vacant Rural	\$100
60.11-1-66.2	S of County Rte 57	323	Vacant Rural	\$100
60.11-1-67.1	S of County Rte 57	323	Vacant Rural	\$100
60.11-1-67.2	S of County Rte 57	323	Vacant Rural	\$100
60.11-1-68	S of County Rte 57	323	Vacant Rural	\$100
60.11-1-69	S of County Rte 57	323	Vacant Rural	\$100
60.11-1-70	S of County Rte 57	323	Vacant Rural	\$100
60.11-1-71	S of County Rte 57	311	Res vac land	\$100
60.11-1-72	S of County Rte 57	323	Vacant Rural	\$100
61.07-1-4.31	NYS Rte 12E	592	Athletic Field	\$3,000
61.13-1-9	Three Mile Point Rd	311	Res vac land	\$1,000
61.13-1-29	Three Mile Point Rd	311	Res vac land	\$400
61.34-1-21	Wilson Ln	311	Res vac land	\$100
61.51-1-30	12171/175 NYS Rte	651	Hwy Garage	\$145,000
62.00-2-15.2	12508 Morris Tract	592	Athletic Field	\$22,000
62.00-2-26	NYS Rte 12E	852	Landfill	\$5,000
70.11-3-69	Failing Shores Ln	323	Vacant Rural	\$1,000
70.11-3-70	Failing Shores Ln	323	Vacant Rural	\$1,000
70.16-1-2	NW of State Pk Rd	695	Cemetery	\$2,300

Source: Jefferson County Office of Real Property

Inter-municipal Agreements and Contract Summary

The Village and Town have a number of agreements and contracts in place regarding delivery of services or sharing of facilities, equipment or personnel.

Chaumont-Lyme IMAs

The Village and Town have the following inter-municipal agreements (IMAs):

- Joint Use of Salt/Sand Barn on Rt. 12E 20-year agreement was signed Dec. 31, 2008.
- Joint Use of Town Municipal Building The Village has been housed in the Town's building since 2009. The original IMA was a one-year agreement and no new agreements have been signed, but the parties have continued the arrangement.

Chaumont Contract with DANC

• Outsourcing of Responsibility for Village Sewer Facility Operation and Maintenance – The Village has a contract with the Development Authority of the North County (DANC) to provide operation and maintenance services for the Village sewer facilities (e.g., wastewater treatment plant, wastewater collection system). The term of the 5-year contract is from August 1, 2011 to July 31, 2016. The agreement may be terminated by either party with 90 days written notice. Details of this contract are provided later in this report.

Chaumont Verbal Agreements

- The Village does not have a written agreement with the Chaumont Volunteer Fire Company but currently budgets \$15,000 annually for fire protection services in the Village. Payment is made to the fire company.
- The Village has a verbal agreement with an outside contractor for once-aweek pickup of trash from Village properties and delivery to the Town transfer site. The service costs \$250 per week and was put in place in late 2011 since the Village refuse truck could not be repaired.

Lyme Current Agreements

- Chaumont Volunteer Fire Company, Inc., (2012 contract signed August 2011). The Town's 2012 budget calls for the company to receive \$77,000 for the year to provide services within the Town's fire protection district.
- Three Mile Bay Fire Company, Inc. (2012 contract signed October 2011). The Town's 2012 budget calls for the company to receive \$77,000 for the year to provide services within the Town's fire protection district, and \$35,000 to provide ambulance service to the entire Town of Lyme.
- **"Cooperation Agreement" with the Lyme Central School District** (approved by resolution of both boards in November 2010). The agreement authorizes the Town's Supervisor and Highway Superintendent and the School District Superintendent to use their discretion to share resources (e.g., equipment, personnel) in the undertaking of various services and projects in the public interest. The agreement does not call for financial compensation. The agreement is extended automatically each year unless either party terminates it.

• Professional Services Agreement for Water System Engineering Services. This is an on-demand service contract with Bernier, Carr & Associates in which the Town only incurs costs when the firm is directed to provide services.

Administrative Staff

Both the Village and the Town have administrative staff to support the two boards and the operations of the Village and Town, and to provide Village and Town services to the public.

Village

The Village has a fulltime Clerk-Treasurer who assists the mayor in preparing the annual budget; serves as treasurer and tax collector; handles water/sewer billing and receiving; and is responsible for Village payroll, abstracts, board minutes, and assisting residents with questions related to taxes, water/sewer bills, problems with refuse, etc. The current salary for the position is \$39,980. In calendar year 2011, total benefits (including Village contributions to health, dental, Social Security and Medicare) were \$11,565. In 2012, due largely to higher costs for healthcare that took effect in January, total benefit costs are estimated to be about \$13,700 for a current total employee cost of approximately \$52,250, not including Village paid retirement.

*Note: In mid-February 2012, Village employees became eligible, for the first time, to participate in the NYS Retirement System*¹³.

Town

Elected Clerk: Lyme's fulltime Clerk is responsible for maintaining vital statistics (e.g., birth, deaths, marriages in the Town-outside-Village); dealing with licenses (e.g., hunting, fishing, dog); board minutes; and assisting the Town assessor and code enforcement officer. In addition, the Town Clerk receives water payments from residents, and assists residents in a variety of other ways. The Town Clerk's current clerk salary is \$31,615, plus she receives an additional \$4,584 to receive water bills. Town benefit contributions include health/dental, Social Security and Medicare, but the current Clerk opts to receive payment in lieu of health/dental coverage (equal to one-third of the total healthcare premium for coverage provided through the Town). The current total employee cost, not counting retirement¹⁴, is nearly \$46,000. However, if healthcare coverage had been provided through the Town, the total employee cost would equal about \$56,800, not counting retirement.

Deputy Clerk Positions: The Town Clerk is assisted by a part-time hourly deputy clerk, who also serves the Town as part-time court clerk and part-time secretary to the Lyme Zoning Board. The Town currently budgets about \$14,000 for the deputy clerk position.

¹³ Tier 5

¹⁴ Town contribution to retirement for this position in 2012 is approximately \$4,500.

A second deputy clerk position is budgeted at \$2,000. This assistant to the Town Clerk works about 4-6 hours weekly.¹⁵

Payroll Clerk: One of the Town's elected assessors also is paid separately to serve as payroll clerk. The position, not including Social Security and Medicare benefits, currently is budgeted at about \$4,200.

Tax Collector: The position is currently budgeted at \$4,800 annually, with Social Security and Medicare costs additional.

Assessment Services

The Town has three elected assessor positions. The Town provides assessment services Townwide, thus there will be no shared service/consolidation options that will be considered by the Committee for this service.

Other General Government Services

- The Village currently budgets \$300 annually for elections; the Town \$1,000 annually.
- The Village currently budgets \$5,000 annually for attorney's fees; the Town \$15,000.
- The Village currently budgets \$600 for animal control services; the Town \$500. Often neither municipality expends much, if any, of these funds, since they are needed only for emergency purposes.

Department of Public Works & Highway Services Village Public Works Services

Approximately half of the fulltime DPW employee's time is spent on work for the Village's water fund for the supply, distribution and metering of clean water. The rest of his time, and that of the 24-32 hour a week part-time DPW employee is spent on street maintenance; snow plowing; recycling; brush/leaves/grass pickup (1 day a month 7 months a year); equipment repairs; maintenance of a small park near the post office; mowing, maintenance and grounds keeping for the Village beach and sewer plant, Memorial Drive, Chaumont Fire Hall grounds, and tennis courts; weed control around all traffic signs and behind all bridge rails, and miscellaneous other duties.

Village residents are responsible for shoveling their own sidewalks, but a member of the DPW crew does shovel the area by Memorial Park, the small bridge between the Library and the local hardware store, and the entryway to the Chaumont Fire

¹⁵ For both positions, benefit costs – employer paid Social Security and Medicare – would be additional.

Department if seniors are meeting there on Fridays during winter months. The Village has done no sidewalk repair for several years, due to budget constraints, but is discussing adding \$5,000 into its 2012-13 general budget to help cover the cost of some needed repairs. The Village is not responsible for any cemetery maintenance. There is one cemetery in the community that is active (Cedar Grove) but it is privately owned.

Until late 2011, the DPW was also responsible for once-a-week garbage pickup and the Village paid "tipping fees" to use the Town transfer station (currently \$12,280 annual expense for the Village), since the Town hauls dumpsters and recycled materials to designated Jefferson County sites. When the Chaumont garbage truck broke down in late 2011 and couldn't be repaired, the Village arranged for an outside hauler from a nearby community to provide garbage pickup for \$250 a week. This arrangement is to continue through the end of May 2012. At the time of this report, no decision had been by the Village on next steps for garbage pickup.¹⁶

The fulltime DPW employee is currently paid \$15.60 an hour. In calendar year 2011, his total compensation for salary and overtime was \$32,845. His benefits (e.g., employer paid contributions for dental coverage, Social Security, Medicare, boot allowance, phone) totaled \$3,605. Thus, total employee cost for this fulltime position in the most recent calendar year was \$36,450.

The part-time DPW employee joined the Village staff for the final quarter of 2011, after the Village's second fulltime DPW employee left the area and sewer operations and maintenance were outsourced by the Village to the Development Authority of the North Country (DANC). Had this position been funded for the entire 2011 calendar year, CGR estimates the total cost of this position would have been \$16,420 (wages) + \$928 (Social Security/Medicare), for a total employee cost of \$17,348.

Town Highway

The Town Highway Department includes a fulltime elected Highway Superintendent and 7 machine equipment operators (MEOs). In addition there is a part-time position budgeted for a maximum of 39 hours a week¹⁷ that is vacant, and the Town has no immediate plan to fill the vacancy.

Since there is no DPW Superintendent in the Village, the Highway Superintendent supervises DPW staff as needed. In spring 2012, the Superintendent said the fulltime DPW employee is meeting the needs of the Village and requires very minimal assistance from him.

The Department's major responsibility is to maintain 40 center line miles of highway in the Town. In addition, County Routes 5, 8, 57 and parts of 6, 125, and 179 run through

¹⁶ CGR notes that the current budgeted amount for Village refuse services is \$30,500, which equates to a tax rate of \$2.52 per \$1,000 for Village taxpayers. This total includes Village use of the Town transfer station (\$12,280). ¹⁷ This position is not eligible for union benefits (e.g., bealth, retirement)

¹⁷ This position is not eligible for union benefits (e.g., health, retirement).

Lyme. Jefferson County pays the Town to maintain 30 county road miles during the winter. State Route 12E also runs through Lyme, and the Town receives compensation from the state to maintain 18.9 miles of state road. Jefferson County and New York State are responsible for maintenance of all bridges in the Town.

There are five water districts in the Lyme. One Highway MEO, with some limited assistance from other Town Highway staff, handles water-related services for residents of the Town-outside-Village. Properties in the TOV are on septic systems and there is no sewer system for the Town to maintain. No one on the Town Highway staff currently has a sewer license, and none is currently needed.

The Town has two ball fields – Morris Tract and a site on Route 12 – but maintenance of the ball fields is outsourced by the Town. Like the Village DPW, the Town Highway Department does not do cemetery maintenance. Lyme has six small cemeteries, all of which are abandoned.

The Town of Lyme has to report costs of its highway department across two separate funds. The first fund is referred to alternatively as the "Whole Town" fund or the "DA" fund and represents costs that are spread out across all Town taxpayers (nearly \$697,000 in 2012 or 32% of the Town's budgeted expenditures).

The second fund is the "Part Town" fund or "DB" fund and represents only those costs paid for by Town-outside Village residents (about \$242,000 in 2012 or 11% of Townwide expenditures).¹⁸ Another important distinction between the Town and Village operations is that, while the Village DPW employees are not unionized and do not work under a collective bargaining agreement, the Town Highway staff do.

Transportation Related Revenues – Village and Town

There are two major sources of transportation revenues for the municipalities, NYS Consolidated Highway Aid (referred to as CHIPS) and income associated with providing services for county and state governments. In Lyme, CHIPS revenues are applied to the DB (Part Town) fund.

CHIPS Revenues – 2012 Budgets

- Village = \$31,850
- Town = \$100,000

¹⁸ Water related expenditures and revenues are not part of DA and DB funds, but are applied, as appropriate, to individual water districts in the Town. CGR also points out that that Town Highway Law § 277 permits towns discretion as to whether or not to assign certain costs to the DA fund budget, or to the Town-outside-Village DB fund budget.

- Village = \$0
- Town = \$150,680

Water and Sewer Overview

The Development Authority of the North County (DANC) supplies water to both the Village and Town. One water tower supplies the Village, and for the TOV water is fed to residential users off the main DANC line. Both communities are charged a base service charge by DANC and a variable charge based on a rate per 1,000 gallons used. The base and water rate charges are not identical. The two municipalities also structure user rates for water differently.

Only the Village has a sewer system. Town-outside-Village residents rely on septic systems.

Lyme Water Districts

The Town of Lyme currently has 5 water districts and approximately 40% to 50% of TOV residents have water service. All water systems in the Town are relatively new. A total of 270 customers are billed, based on usage, every two months and bills include debt service appropriate to each user's own water district. Town water district bills include the following:

- \$2.55 charge per thousand gallons used
- \$32.53 to cover DANC service charge
- From \$16 to \$29 (varies by district) for O&M (operational/maintenance fee)
- From \$19 to \$54 (varies by district)¹⁹ for debt service

The water districts in the Town are self-supporting. The Town recently became 100% "radio read" for water meter reading, which means it can now read meters for all customers in 2.5 hours, instead of the 2.5 days it used to take.

Village Water & Sewer

Since 25% of all Village expenditures involve water and 29% involve sewer, the current Village board has been monitoring water and sewer costs carefully, working to bring the two funds – slowly for residents' sake – to a healthy bottom line. In the past these funds had little-to-no fund balance, but the Village has, to date, built small ones for both water and sewer. Village officials are aware of the long-term need to upgrade both systems, but capital costs have not been identified.

¹⁹ Excludes Water District #3, which is small and has no debt.

Water and sewer users are billed six times a year by the Village. The amount users pay for sewer debt is itemized as sewer "debt service." The amount users pay for water debt is built into their water charges and is not separately listed as water "debt service." Table 13 provides a breakdown of water debt payments in the Village's current year.

Table 13

Principal Paid in Village 2011-12 FY for Water Debt				
Description Payment on Principal Interest Rate				
Repairs to Water Tower	\$5,000	3.25%		
Water meters & readers*	\$6,000	3.25%		

*Purchased in late 2011, but not budgeted.

Water Billing

The Village sends out about 290 water bills every two months. The average residential customer is billed for water as follows:

- \$30.00 base charge
- \$4.75 per thousand gallons for water usage over 3,000 gallons
- \$15.75 for DCC fee (Development Authority billing)
- \$5.00 for O&M fee (operational/maintenance)

Village Water System Fiscal Status

As Table 14 shows, the Village's current budget shows revenues exceed expenses for water. However, the Village decided late in 2011 to purchase radio read meters²⁰ that would allow it, prior to every two-month billing cycle, to take meter readings in 15 minutes rather than 1.5 days. The \$6,000 charge plus interest the Village paid in the current fiscal year for the new equipment is not reflected in this budget. Payment was made from the Village water fund.

²⁰ Cost of new equipment is \$60,000 and debt will be paid off in 2021.

Table 14

Code	Description	Chaumont Village Budget 2011-2012			
	ESTIMATED EXPENDITURES - WATER				
Special Items					
F1990.4	Contingency Acct.	\$500			
	Total Special Items	\$500			
Water					
F8310.1	Water Admin P.S.	\$5,500			
F8310.2	Water Admin Eq.	\$500			
F8310.4	Water Admin C.E.	\$2,600			
F8320.2	Source of Supply, Power & Pumping Eq.	\$10,000			
F8320.4	Source of Supply, Power & Pumping C.E.	\$10,000			
F8330.4	Purification C.E.	\$500			
F8340.1	Transportation & Distribution P.S.	\$12,000			
F8340.2	Transportation & Distribution Eq.	\$500			
F8340.4	Transportation & Distribution C.E.	\$100,000			
	Total Water	\$141,600			
Employee Benefits					
F9030.8	Social Security	\$1,300			
	Total Employee Benefits	\$1,300			
Debt Service					
F9750.6	Budget Notes - Principal	\$6,000			
	Total Debt Service	\$6,000			
	TOTAL ESTIMATED EXPENDITURES	\$149,400			
	ESTIMATED REVENUES - WATER				
Home and Community Services					
F2140.1	Metered Water Sales	\$112,168			
F2140.2	O&M Charge (DCC and O&M)	\$35,439			
F2144	Meter Sales	\$72			
F2145	Service Connection	\$600			
F2148	Interest and Penalties	\$2,000			
	Total Home and Community Services	\$150,279			
	TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES	\$150,279			

Village Sewer

The Village was mandated some 10 years ago by the NYS Department of Environmental Conservation to address issues since Village septic tanks were leaking into Lake Ontario. At that time the Village had an opportunity to get a sizeable federal grant for a new sewer system and wastewater treatment plant and also to get the balance funded through Rural Development at a low interest rate. However, the sewer system has cost the community more than officials at that time anticipated; has been more costly to maintain that originally anticipated; and has, at times, not generated enough annual revenue through user fees to cover costs.

Although the sewer plant is under 50% capacity, capital improvements of an unknown cost are needed at the plant; and debt service costs (currently \$52.67 every two months for the average single-family residence) help push the average water/sewer bill for a Village homeowner to approximately \$130 every two months.

Prior to August 2011, the Village had a second fulltime DPW employee who oversaw the wastewater treatment plant and sewer system and spent at least half his time on sewer-related duties. He took another position in fall 2011, and at that time the Village outsourced operation and maintenance services for its sewer facilities (e.g., wastewater treatment plant, wastewater collection system) to the Development Authority of the North Country (DANC). The term of the five-year contract is from August 1, 2011 to July 31, 2016.²¹ The costs associated with the contract are shown in Table 15 below:

	DANC Contract Costs				
Year	Base Count	Other Services	Total		
2012	\$25,000	\$6000	\$31,000		
2013	\$28,890	\$6000	\$34,890		
2014	\$30,000	\$6000	\$36,000		
2015	\$30,970	\$6000	\$36,970		
2016	\$31,975	\$6000	\$37,975		

Tuble 13	Ta	b	е	1	5
----------	----	---	---	---	---

Sewer Billing

The Village bills sewer customers at the same time, and on the same bill, as it invoices for water. The Village bills about 275 customers every two months, as follows:

- \$52.67 for debt service
- \$1.50 per thousand gallons of water used
- \$13.50 for O&M fee (operational/maintenance)

Village Sewer System Fiscal Status

As Table 16 shows, the Village had to budget a \$17,000 appropriation from its sewer fund and \$1,000 from a contingency account, plus increase sewer rates²² to generate more than \$30,000 in order to cover approximately \$173,000 in sewer expenditures in its current fiscal year budget.

²¹ The agreement may be terminated by either party with 90 days written notice.

²² By \$13.50 per user per invoice

Table 16

Code	Description	Chaumont Village Budget 2011-2012			
	ESTIMATED EXPENDITURES - SEWER				
Special Items					
G1920.4	Municipal Association Dues & Miscellaneous	\$2,000			
G1990.5	Contingency Acct.	\$1,000			
	Total Special Items	\$3,000			
Sewage					
G8110.1	Legal & Admin P.S.	\$1,500			
G8110.2	Legal & Admin Eq.	\$500			
G8110.4	Legal & Admin C.E.	\$3,000			
G8120.2	Sanitary Sewers Eq.	\$12,000			
G8120.4	Sanitary Sewers C.E.	\$35,000			
G8130.4	Sewage Treatment & Disposal C.E.	\$1,200			
G8140.1	Storm Sewers P.S.	\$17,000			
G8140.4	Storm Sewers C.E.	\$26,000			
	Total Sewage	\$96,200			
Employee Benefits					
G9030.8	Social Security	\$1,500			
	Total Employee Benefits	\$1,500			
Debt Service					
G9770.6	Revenue Anticipated Notes - Principal	\$72,000			
	Total Debt Service	\$72,000			
	TOTAL ESTIMATED EXPENDITURES	\$172,700			
	ESTIMATED REVENUES - SEWER				
Home and Community Services					
G2140	Debt Service	\$95,754			
G2142	Unmetered Water Sales	\$19,500			
G2148	Interest and Penalties	\$2,100			
	Total Home and Community Services	\$117,354			
Miscellaneous					
G2770	Connection Fees	\$8,200			
	Total Miscellaneous	\$8,200			
Appropriated Fund Balance					
G910	Unreserved Fund Balance - Appropriated	\$17,000			
	Total Appropriated Fund Balance	\$17,000			
User Fee Increase					
G	Increase in Sewer Rates	\$30,146			
	Total User Fee Increase	\$30,146			
	TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES	\$172,700			

Transfer Station

The Village takes all garbage, refuse and recycling that it collects from Village properties to the Town's transfer station, and the Town hauls the dumpsters and recyclables to designated Jefferson County sites. The Village pays tipping fees to the Town for use of the transfer station, and the \$12,280 Chaumont paid the Town in the current fiscal year equated to \$40 for each Village parcel.

The Town does not provide pickup refuse service to residents in the TOV. In 2011 the Town charged TOV property owners \$40 a year to drop their garbage and recyclables at the transfer station. In 2012, all Town property owners are being charged as part of their Town tax bill for this service, and the Town plans to continue this approach going forward. As a result, the Village, beginning with its upcoming fiscal year, will no longer include the cost of tipping fees for Chaumont property owners in its budget.

Part Two of this report will not examine options for the transfer station. Since only the Town offers this service there is no consolidation or shared service option that will be considered by the Study Committee.

Public Safety

Police

The Town budgets approximately \$16,000 annually for part-time police coverage, with 75% covering personnel expenses and the remainder for equipment and contractual expenses. The Village currently budgets \$1,200 which it has traditionally paid directly to police personnel. The Town has one police car, which has been used in recent years, by either one or two very part-time officers serving both the TOV and Village. At the time of this report the Town did not have a police officer and was recruiting to fill a single vacancy. The Town Board was also seeking to define what type of police service it wishes to provide to residents.

Fire, Ambulance & Emergency Response

There are two nonprofit, volunteer fire companies that serve the community, Three Mile Bay Fire Department and the Chaumont Volunteer Fire Department. On paper, the TOV constitutes a single Lyme Fire Protection District, with each department responsible for a designated area. In addition, the Chaumont F.D. on paper, also provides fire protection services to the Village.

In reality, the two departments are heavily dependent on one other to provide fire protection services to the entire community. The majority of calls for service, whether in the Village or TOV, involve both companies, since each has an active roster of approximately 15 firefighters and not all are available for every call. Typically in a year, according to the Three Mile Bay Fire Chief, the two companies independently handle 5-10 calls each for motor vehicle accidents where there are no injuries, and they also do some other "small stuff" independently. However, on the vast majority of calls, listed below, they respond together, regardless of the location within the Town. The chief estimates calls for service on which they jointly respond each year as follows:
- 40-50 fire-related calls (1-2 are structure fires)
- 200-250 ambulance calls (although Three Mile Bay operates the community's only ambulance, Chaumont has a first responder vehicle and assists on these same calls)
- 0-6 ice rescue / water rescues
- 2-3 mutual aid responses to communities in 15-20 mile radius, when there is a fire

Based on interviews, CGR finds that map that officially divides the Lyme Fire Protection District for its TOV into two service areas has little meaning, since both companies respond to the entire Town, not just for service calls but also for ambulance calls.

Fire protection and ambulance services in the community are currently funded as follows:

- \$154,000 paid by TOV taxpayers via the Lyme Fire Protection special district tax levied by the Town
 - \$77,000 is paid by the Town to Three Mile Bay F.D.
 - \circ \$77,000 is paid by the Town to the Chaumont F.D.
- \$15,000 paid by Village taxpayers as part of their Village taxes, with payment made by the Village directly to the Chaumont F.D.
- \$35,000 for ambulance service is paid by all Town taxpayers as part of their Townwide tax
 - The Town pays this entire amount to the Three Mile Bay F.D.
- \$6,000 for fuel is paid by all town taxpayers as part of their Townwide tax
 - The Town gives \$3,000 to each fire company

Code Enforcement

Both the Village and Town have adopted the NYS Building Code and both have parttime code enforcement officers. In the Village, the Zoning Board of Appeals looks at use variances and area variances (e.g., setbacks). The Village Zoning Board meets only on an as-needed basis, usually 3-4 times per year. The Village Planning Board does site plan review. The Town has both a Planning and a Zoning Board, but one elected official observed to CGR, "the Zoning Board in the Town is more like the Planning Board in the Village."

The Village code enforcement officer is responsible for 15-22 building permits a year, and handles 5-10 complaints a year. He does code enforcement work only when called to the Village. In addition, he does 40-50 fire inspections a year per the Village code. The Village currently budgets \$4,000 a year for his services.

The Town's code enforcement officer is responsible for zoning permits, and since January 2011, also for building permits, which formerly were handled by Jefferson County. He estimates the Town has about 90-100 zoning permits a year, and about 80 building permits. He also handles fire inspections for the Town. He works two mornings a week from 7 a.m. – noon in the Town, then is out on inspection the rest of the day. The Town budgets about \$12,400 for his services.

Recreation

The Village currently budgets \$18,000 annually for recreational programs at the Chaumont Beach and then nearby tennis and basketballs courts. The Town budgets about \$23,000 annually for its summer recreational program and Teen Center. The municipalities work closely to ensure equitable payment for any overlapping recreational services that are provided by personnel serving both municipalities.

Court

The Village does not have a court, and the Town provides court services Townwide. Thus, there are no shared service / consolidation options that will be considered by the Committee for this service.

Street Lighting

Street lighting is a contractual expense in both the Village and Town. The current cost of street lighting in the Village, which is supplied by National Grid, is \$12,500, a cost which currently equates to about \$1.03 per \$1,000 taxable assessed valuation for a Village taxpayer.

The only portion of the TOV that has street lighting is the hamlet of Three Mile Bay. Taxpayers in the hamlet pay a special district tax of \$1.68 per \$1,000 taxable assessed valuation for street lighting.

Special Contributions

Both the Village and Town make special contributions annually, as follows:

Chaumont currently budgets annually:

- \$2,500 to the Library
- \$150 to the Garden Club
- \$150 to the Lyme Light

The Town currently budgets the following annually, with the Library cost paid by TOV taxpayers and the remaining costs listed paid by taxpayers Townwide:

- \$11,250 to the Library
- \$640 to the Heritage Center (plus budgets \$500 for contractual services)
- \$4,100 to the Lyme Foundation

- \$3,100 to the Lyme Garden Club
- \$1,000 to the Veterans Service

In Part Two of this report, the Committee presents options for the future, based on our examination of how services are currently provided in the Village and Town.

PART TWO: OPTIONS FOR THE FUTURE

Special Considerations in Developing Options for the Future

Outside of weighing options to be considered for Village dissolution, there were two special considerations that the Study Committee took into account in developing options for the future. The first was whether there are opportunities for additional service sharing. The second was to quantify recent operational changes that are not reflected in the Village 2011-12 budget and are not due to a potential Village dissolution, but which would still become part of our projected single Town model.

Committee Identified No Significant Opportunities for Additional Service Sharing

The Village and Town's history of working cooperatively means that major steps have already been taken in the area of service consolidation and service sharing. We point out:

- Assessment, court, public health, economic opportunity, and cemetery services are only provided by the Town. The Town also operates the transfer station.
- The Town is responsible for determining the level of police service in the community and hiring police personnel. The Village contributes a budgeted amount directly for personnel, but does not oversee police services or staff.
- In discussions about potential Village dissolution, Village and Town officials agreed that the Village does not need to separately provide funds for animal control.²³
- Service sharing has already occurred in key areas. Examples include co-locating operations in the Town's municipal building, having the Town highway superintendent supervise Village DPW staff, and equitably sharing the cost of recreation personnel when they are serving both the Village and Town. In addition, the two municipalities' Planning Boards have recently jointly completed a draft of a new community comprehensive plan.
- Two significant services sewer and refuse/recycling pickup are only provided by the Village.

The Study Committee identified only one area for potential service sharing. We suggest exploring whether to have one community planning board and also a single zoning board. Savings to the community would be minimal (\$1,670) but merging boards could result in other benefits for the community.

²³ For purposes of this study, the \$600 Village budgeted cost for animal control will be considered eliminated under the one-government model.

Operational Changes Impacting the Village – That, Due to Timing, Are Not Reflected in Current Budget

The major operational changes that occurred are summarized below. ^{24,25}

Outsourcing of Refuse Pickup Service

During 2011 the Village garbage truck failed and couldn't be repaired. The Village borrowed a truck from a neighboring community for a short period, then arranged to outsource the garbage pickup (recycling remains a Village responsibility).

•	20	11-12 budgeted cost, excluding tipping fees:	\$ 1	8,220
•	Es	timated increase as result of outsourcing:	\$	780
	0	Savings in Village personnel costs:	\$ 8	3,500
	0	Added cost for contractor:	\$13	3,000
	0	Savings other contractual (e.g., fuel, repairs) :	\$ 3	3,720

Note: Effective with its 2012 budget the Town instituted a change in how it bills for use of its transfer station, making it a Townwide charge in the Town budget. As a result, the \$12,280 annual tipping fee cost for use of the transfer station will not appear in Village budgets, beginning in 2012-13.

Outsourcing of Sewer Service

In fall 2011 the Village's fulltime DPW employee overseeing the wastewater treatment plant and sewer system left and the Village outsourced this service to DANC.

•	2011-12 budgeted expenditures:	\$172,700
---	--------------------------------	-----------

- Estimated savings as result of outsourcing: \$ 6,000
 - Elimination of municipal association dues \$ 2,000
 - Source of supply: reduction in expenses for Village \$ 7,000
 - Source of supply: increase in contractual expense \$ 5,000
 - Distribution: personnel cost reduction for Village \$16,000
 - Distribution: increased contractual expenses \$ 14,000

Purchase of Digital Radio Read Equipment

As described earlier (see *Village Water System Fiscal Status*) the Village, in late 2011, purchased \$60,000 worth of new water meters and readers. Annual payment (through

²⁴ Does not include Village contributions to Social Security/Medicare

²⁵ The major operational changes included the departure of a fulltime DPW employee primarily overseeing sewer. As a result the Village hired a part-time laborer,

2021) on the principal for this debt is \$6,000. Water debt service is built into water charges billed on user water bills, but is not separately itemized as debt service.

Participation in the NYS Retirement System

Until very recently, the Village had not been part of the NYS retirement system. In February 2012, the Village Clerk-Treasurer, and both DPW employees were given the opportunity to join the system. All opted to participate. As of spring 2012, the Village had not received its first bill for the employer share of retirement costs.

Note: The Study Committee, as part of options outlined in the next section, calculates estimates of annual retirement costs for the Village based on the state's applicable rate.²⁶ Annual retirement costs for the Village's 2 fulltime and 1 part-time employee are estimated by CGR at about \$16,000. This total is well within the amount set aside by the Village in its current fiscal year to cover retirement costs for employees.

Recommended Options If the Village Dissolves

Based on the current budgets, input from elected Village and Town Board members, and public feedback provided at the May 1 public forum, the Study Committee identified its recommended options if the Village dissolves.

Important Notes about Recommended Options

Special Districts for Village Water, Sewer, Refuse and Street Lighting, Plus Lyme Fire Protection District Will Expand to Include Chaumont

Special districts are not a level of government, but instead a mechanism for allocating taxes for specified services. If the Village dissolves, all Village water and sewer service costs will be paid for by users within newly formed water and sewer districts in the Town of Lyme. The Chaumont Water District would, for budget purposes, be known as Town Water District #6 and the sewer district would be the Chaumont Sewer District. The Town has a Water Board, but the Town Board would serve as the board for the sewer district.

Village garbage and refuse expenses will be included in a new special refuse district and the costs of this service will be the responsibility of taxpayers whose properties are in Chaumont. The Town Board will be the board for the Chaumont Refuse District.

Village street lighting expenses will be included in a special street lighting district and the costs of street lighting will be the responsibility of taxpayers in Chaumont. The Town Board will be the board for the Chaumont Lighting District.

²⁶ The employer contribution rate for employees in NYS Retirement ERS Tier V for the state's current fiscal year, which began April 1, 2012, is 18.9% of total salary/wages.

Under state law, the Town would be responsible for providing fire protection within Chaumont if the Village dissolves. As a result, the Lyme Fire Protection District would expand to include the Village, and costs for fire protection services would then become uniform Townwide.

About Committee's Estimates of Cost Savings and Cost Increases

The estimates of cost savings and cost increases that the Study Committee provides below are by functional area, but cost shifts (who pays) are often involved. The Committee addresses cost shifts under the tax projections section, which appear later in this report.

About Recommendations for Personnel Transfers

If the Village dissolves, the Town is not obligated to hire Village employees but the Committee assumes, as has been the case for other dissolutions in New York, that openings in the Town would be offered to current Village fulltime employees, although not necessarily at the same title or rate of pay as they currently receive. The Committee notes that other options (e.g., transferring Village administrative functions to the Town on a part-time basis; eliminating the Village administrative position; transferring the fulltime DPW employee to a new Lyme Water Department that would have to be created by the Town) were all discussed but were not selected as preferred options.

The Committee's Recommended Options if the Village dissolves are:

General Government

- Eliminate Village Mayor and Board positions Save salary and associated Social Security/Medicare costs *Estimated cost savings: \$12,918*
- Eliminate Village election costs
 Estimated cost savings: \$300
- Eliminate Village municipal dues to NY Conference of Mayors *Estimated cost savings: \$800*
- Eliminate Village attorney contractual expenses *Estimated cost savings: \$5,000*

Note: next option has two parts:

Part 1: Have Village Clerk-Treasurer join the Town staff fulltime as assistant to the supervisor, and pay for clerk duties²⁷ at a level not to exceed the salary paid for clerk duties performed by the Town Clerk.

²⁷ Excludes water and sewer billing duties, which will be covered separately

There are savings from reductions in this position's Village salary/Social Security/Medicare costs, but the overall cost of municipally provided healthcare coverage is higher in the Town than in the Village. *Estimated cost increase: \$ 2,685*

 Part 2: Eliminate Town's budgeted second deputy Town Clerk position Save wages and associated Social Security/Medicare costs Estimated cost savings: \$2,150

Estimated net cost increase: \$535

Animal Control

 Eliminate Village animal control costs. Town budgets \$500 for this service, which Committee finds adequate for entire Town.

Estimated cost savings: \$600

DPW/Highway

Note: this option has two parts:

Part 1: Village fulltime DPW employee transfers to Town and spends estimated 7% of time on recycling/brush duties; 43% of time on other public works/highway duties, and remaining 50% for Chaumont Water District.

The estimate below addresses only other public works/highway costs for transferring this employee, because recycling/brush and water duties are covered separately under refuse and water. The increased cost is due to employee receiving healthcare and pay as a Town union employee. *Estimated cost increase: \$9,545*

Part 2: Village part-time DPW laborer position is eliminated.

Laborer is hired by the Town on an hourly basis to assist with recycling and brush (costs for this service are accounted for under refuse). Otherwise laborer works for the Town Highway Department only on an as-needed basis, a cost the Committee finds can be absorbed in the current Town budget.

Savings estimate is based on estimate of saved wages, Social Security/Medicare and retirement costs. *Estimated cost savings: \$20,250*

Estimated net cost savings: \$10,705

Code Enforcement / Planning / Zoning

Note: this option has two parts:

Part 1: Have one Townwide code enforcement officer

For taking on additional duties, pay position 50% of current amount budgeted by Village for code enforcement salary/Social Security/Medicare. Also, factor in additional Town retirement cost on amount of pay increase. *Estimated cost savings: \$1,900*

 Part 2: Have a single Planning Board and a single Zoning Board Estimated cost savings: \$1,670

Estimated net cost savings: \$3,570

Recreation

 Have Town assume responsibility for Village recreational programs at Chaumont Beach and nearby tennis and basketball courts.
 No change in overall costs

Special Contributions by the Village

Add the cost of the Village contribution (\$2,500 annually) to the Library to what the Town-outside-Village taxpayers now contribute. Eliminate the Village contributions of \$150 each to the Garden Club and Lyme Light. *Estimated cost savings: \$300*

Garbage & Refuse

Create a special refuse district to provide Chaumont residents the garbage, brush and recycling pickup services they currently receive, with Chaumont taxpayers charged for the cost of this service.

Based on how the service is currently provided (i.e., garbage pickup by an outside contractor; recycling and brush pickup by municipal employees), the cost of the service would increase by just over \$1,000 if provided by the Town. The increase is associated with the Town being required, under terms of a collective bargaining agreement, to provide health care to Highway Department staff. Only the portion of the healthcare cost associated with time spent on refuse would be allocated to the special refuse district. *Estimated cost increase: \$1,030*

Street Lighting

Create a special street lighting district in Chaumont.
 No change in cost

Fire & Emergency Response

Note: this option has two parts:

 Part 1: Town expands Fire Protection District to include Chaumont, and taxpayers Townwide are billed for fire protection services as a special district tax. Three Mile Bay and Chaumont Fire Departments receive the same amount that they now receive (\$77,000 each).

 Part 2: Emergency response costs remain part of the Town general budget. Thus, ambulance costs for Three Mile Bay remain \$35,000 and fuel costs for the fire departments of \$3,000 each are unchanged. However, the amount currently paid directly by the Village to the Chaumont F.D. (\$15,000) is reallocated as a First Responder Townwide cost since the department also responds with a designated vehicle whenever the Three Mile Bay F.D. ambulance is called for service anywhere in Lyme.

No change in total amount expended community-wide on fire protection and emergency response services

About Fees for Water Service

As noted above, the Village fulltime DPW employee will transfer to the Town and continue to spend 50% of time on Chaumont water duties, and his services will continue to be paid by Village residents via their water bills.

Since he would be covered by the Town union contract, this employee would have healthcare coverage and wages per union contract, resulting in an increase to current cost for water service.

Estimated cost increase: \$10,575

Water users will pay for water service expenses as they currently do, through user fees billed every two months. Table 17 shows, if the Village dissolves, anticipated water expenditures and revenues.

Projected Water Expenditures for Water Districts				
	Town Water Districts #1-5	Projected Chaumont Water District		
Expenditures	\$174,576	\$169,698		
Revenue	\$174,576	\$150,279		
To be raised by User Fees	\$0	\$19,419		

Table 17

Source: CGR calculation

As Table 17 shows, anticipated revenues would cover only 88% of projected expenditures if water rates in Chaumont remained as they are today. Thus, if Village dissolution occurs, Chaumont property owners should expect to see some increase in their water bills. This increase, as will be shown later, would be more than offset by the savings Village residents would see in their tax bills.

Note: If the Village does not dissolve, water rates for Chaumont residents likely will still increase somewhat (see *Part One: Village Water System Fiscal Status*). The Study

Committee points out that questions about the need to build a larger water fund balance or determine future capital improvement costs for the system fall outside the scope of this study. However, answers to these questions would also impact future water rates, with or without dissolution.

About Fees for Sewer Service

The Study Committee projects, as shown in Table 18, that Chaumont Sewer District revenues would exceed expenditures by about \$6,700 if sewer rates remained at current rates following Village dissolution. However, this assumes the same level of appropriation from the sewer fund as occurred in 2011-12 (\$17,000 was appropriated) and use of a \$1,000 contingency fund, which also occurred in the current budget year. In addition, Village officials are aware of the need to continue to build the sewer fund²⁸ to meet future capital improvement needs of the sewer system.²⁹ For all of these reasons the system is not self-supporting. As a result, sewer rates can be expected to go up with or without dissolution, according to the Village board.

Projected Sewer Expenditures for Chaumont Sewer District			
	Chaumont Sewer District		
Expenditures	\$165,985		
Revenue	\$172,700		
Projected amount of revenue that would			
exceed expenditures	\$6,715		

Table 1

Source: CGR calculation

Property Tax Impact Projections

Property tax rates in the Village and Town will be affected if the dissolution options identified by the Committee are implemented. Operational changes that were outlined at the beginning of Part Two will also impact New Town tax projections, since the changes occurred during the fiscal year³⁰ that serves as the baseline for comparison purposes. In addition, there are other factors that impact the Committee's New Town tax impact projections, as explained below. To provide a common understanding of key terms used throughout the remainder of Part Two, see Table 19.

CGR

²⁸ The Village sewer fund balance was about \$29,000 as of May 31, 2011; about \$12,225 as of May 31, 2012.

²⁹ Costs of future capital improvements have not been determined

³⁰Village 2011-12 and Town 2012 budgets

Table 19

Term	Definition
Tax Levy	The amount of money raised by a specific government through taxes. For local governments, this means property taxes.
Taxable Assessed Valuation (TAV)	The size of the tax base from which a government raises property tax dollars. Can be listed by individual property (TAV per \$1,000) or by size of the total tax base in a specific community.
Tax Rate	The amount a taxpayer would be taxed, usually expressed as a rate per \$1,000 of a property's assessed valuation. The tax rate is determined by dividing a municipality's tax levy by its TAV.
Town vs. Town- Outside-Village (TOV)	The Town incorporates all properties (including the Village), while the TOV consists only of the properties outside of the Village.
CETC	Citizen Empowerment Tax Credit annual incentive from New York State for consolidating governments (but not for shared services).
New Town	For the purposes of the report, distinguishes between the current Town (TOV and the Village of Chaumont) and the new combined (one-government) entity if the Village dissolved.
Cost Savings	Money saved due to reducing expenses.
Cost Shift	Expenses remain, but who pays the expenses changes.
Fund Balance	The net assets of governmental funds calculated on a budgetary basis, calculated based on all previous years' surpluses and/or deficits. Fund balance is of two basic types: <i>reserved</i> for specific purposes, or <i>unreserved</i> and therefore available to be used within the governmental fund.
Special Taxing District	Taxes that are applied to a sub-geographic area for specialized or enhanced services provided. For example, street lighting, refuse, fire protection. These districts are a taxing mechanism (a way to collect taxes) and are not a new governing body.

Citizen Empowerment Tax Credit (CETC): NYS Incentive When Two Local Governments Consolidate

Current state legislation provides a Citizen Empowerment Tax Credit (CETC) to municipalities as an incentive when two local governments consolidate. This tax credit is written in state law as an <u>annual</u> appropriation, based on a prescribed formula of 15% of the combined property tax levy when the local governments consolidate. The CETC is not guaranteed, since it is subject to annual appropriations in the state budget process, just like every other annual state revenue source (for example, CHIPS highway funding). It has clearly been an important public policy objective of the Governor and State Legislature for the past 5 years to support consolidation initiatives by funding the CETC (and its predecessor programs) each year in the annual state budget, and it is reasonable to project that such funding will continue in future years. However, to

41

account for the potential that the CETC could be eliminated in future years, the tax rate projections are shown both with, and without the CETC.

If the Village of Chaumont dissolves, the Village effectively consolidates with the Town. Thus, the New Town would qualify for the annual CETC funding which, based on current budget figures, would be \$ 30,757 or a \$0.28 tax reduction per \$1,000 of assessed value for each property in the Town (including the former Village and the former TOV). ³¹

Calculation Citizen Empowerment Tax Credit (CETC)		
Village Tax Levy (2011-12)	\$115,450	
Town Tax Levy (2012)	\$89,599	
Combined	\$205,049	
15% of Combined	\$30,757	
CETC Rate / \$1,000	\$0.28	

Table 20	
----------	--

Loss of Gross Utilities Receipt Tax Revenue

The Village budgets \$5,000 in utilities gross receipt tax revenue. If the Village dissolves, the Town, under current state law, is not eligible to receive this revenue. The Committee notes, however, that upon dissolution Chaumont utility customers will no longer be charged this tax, which equates to approximately 2%-4% of electric and phone bills.

Impact of Cost Shifts

There are many areas where cost shifts would affect taxpayers in the community if the Village dissolved. Two examples will serve to illustrate this point: fire protection services and library contributions.

Fire Protection Services

The cost of providing fire protection services to the community, as explained in Part One of this report, has been largely borne by taxpayers in the TOV. By expanding the Lyme Fire Protection District, taxpayers across the community will experience cost shifts, as illustrated by Table 21. At the same time, the table also shows that costs for fuel for the fire departments and for ambulance service in the community, because they have been billed as part of the Townwide tax rate, will not change. In addition, the table illustrates the impact of the Study Committee's recommendation to incorporate the Village's current \$15,000 contribution for fire protection services as a Townwide emergency response cost.

³¹ By law, a minimum of 70% of CETC must be applied as a tax reduction. For the purposes of this study it is assumed that 100% of CETC is applied as tax reduction.

Table 21

Fire & Emergency Response – Current Cost to Taxpayers				
Village Tax Rate	Town Tax Rate			
\$1.24/\$1,000	\$1.54/\$1,000			
\$.05/\$1,000	\$.05/\$1,000			
\$.31/\$1,000	\$.31/\$1,000			
\$1.60/\$1,000	\$1.90/\$1,000			
y Response – Projected	d Cost to Taxpayers			
	Townwide Tax Rate			
	\$1.37/\$1,000			
	\$.05/\$1,000			
y F.D.)	\$.31/\$1,000			
F.D.)	\$.13/\$1,000			
bined	\$1.87/\$1,000			
	Village Tax Rate \$1.24/\$1,000 \$.05/\$1,000 \$.31/\$1,000 \$1.60/\$1,000 y Response – Projected			

Source: CGR calculation

Contributions to the Library

If the current Library contributions from Chaumont and the TOV remain constant but become Townwide expenditures, the total contribution would equate to a tax of \$0.12 per \$1,000 for taxpayers across the entire Town. Table 22 shows what's involved in the cost shifts that would occur if the Village dissolved.

Table 22

Impact of Transferring Village Library Contribution Townwide				
Recipient	Village 2011-12	Village Tax Rate	Projected Townwide Tax Rate	
Contribution		2011-12		
Library \$2,500		\$.21/\$1,000	\$.02/\$1,000	
Impact of Transferring TOV Library Contribution Townwide				
Recipient	TOV 2012	TOV 2012 Tax	Projected Townwide Tax Rate	
	Contribution	Rate		
Library	\$11,248	\$.11/\$1,000	\$.10/\$1,000	

New Town Property Tax Rate Projections

To calculate the property tax rate impact based on the cost savings / cost increases outlined in Table 23 below, a detailed budget crosswalk was built that shows current Town and Village costs; what costs would be saved; what costs would increase; and what costs would be transferred to the New Town budget from the former Village budget. The detailed budget crosswalk is available at <u>www.cgr.org/chaumont</u>.

The cost savings and cost increases identified in the budget crosswalk that would impact the New Town resulted in calculation of a new derived tax levy. Table 23³² is a summary of expense and revenue changes previously outlined in Part Two of this report.

³² Note: The information in this footnote is requested per the Village contract with the NYS Department of State. Based on Table 23, the total impact of dissolution, without the application of the CETC, is a savings of \$16,753. The application of \$30,757 in CETC brings the total dissolution savings to \$47,510. On a per capita basis, dissolution savings amount to \$26.85 per capita without CETC and \$76.14 with CETC. The dissolution savings represent \$1.38 per \$1,000 taxable assessed value in the Village before application of CETC, and \$3.92 per \$1,000 TAV including CETC. As noted in this Report, there were operational changes made during the fiscal year that impacted the Village. However, any associated expenditure and revenue changes were not due to dissolution, thus their impacts are not part of this footnote.

Table 23

Summary of Village Operational Changes and Village Dissolution Impact on Expenditures and Revenues			
Operational Changes - Village FY 2011-12			
Expenditures - Village			
Sewer Municipal Association Dues	-\$2,000		
DPW Staffing Reallocation	\$16,000		
Sewer Operational Changes (Outsourcing to DANC)	-\$5,000		
Refuse Operational Changes (Outsourcing garbage pickup)	-\$11,500		
Employee Retirement Costs (New benefit - annual cost estimate)	\$16,070		
Water Debt Increase (Purchase of radio read equipment)	\$6,000		
Net Increase due to Operational Changes	\$19,570		
Impact of Dissolving the Village			
Expenditures			
Elimination of Mayor & Legislative Board	-\$12,918		
Elimination of Village municipal dues	-\$800		
Elimination of Village attorney and election costs	-\$5 <i>,</i> 300		
Elimination of Village animal control costs			
Reduction in community code enforcement expenses			
Elimination of Village Planning & Zoning Boards			
Administrative personnel changes			
DPW FT Employee transfer to Town (cost Increase, part to special districts ¹)	\$21,150		
DPW PT Employee highway position eliminated ²			
Revenue ³			
Loss of Utilities Gross Receipts Tax	-\$5,000		
Net Savings due to Dissolution	\$16,753		
Additional Revenue - CETC Incentive from NYS ⁴	\$30,757		
Net Savings due to Dissolution and CETC	\$47,510		
TOTAL Savings due to Dissolution, CETC, and Village Operational Changes \$27			

1. \$10,575 of increase is budgeted to Chaumont Water District, \$1,030 is budgeted to Chaumont Refuse, and remaining \$9,545 is budgeted to Highway.

2. Refuse duties /costs of PT DPW employee are unchanged and do not appear in table.

3. Assumes appropriated fund balances are applied as in current year budgets.

4. For purpose of study, 100% of CETC will be shown as applied to reduce property taxes.

Using the information shown in Table 23, the Committee projected tax rates for the New Town – broken down by former Village and former TOV. The projected tax rates, shown in Table 24, are shown with and without the impact of the state's consolidation

incentive (CETC). The table assumes fund balances at the same level as in the Town 2012 budget.

Note: The projections do not take into account any changes in water or sewer charges billed as user fees every two months. (*See information accompanying Tables 17 and 18 for more information.*)

Impact of Operational Changes and Village Dissolution New Town Projected Tax Rates per \$1,000 Assessed Value					
Former Former Village TOV					
Townwide*	\$1.44	\$1.44			
Chaumont Street Lighting District	\$1.03	-			
Chaumont Refuse District	\$1.72	-			
Lyme Fire Protection	\$1.37	\$1.37			
Total (without CETC)**	\$5.56	\$2.81			
Impact of CETC	-\$0.28	-\$0.28			
TOTAL (with CETC)**	\$5.29	\$2.53			

Table 24

Source: CGR calculated projection

*Townwide rate assumes continued application of \$375,000 appropriated fund balances. Without applied fund balances, Townwide tax rate would be \$4.80/\$1,000.

**TOV residents living in the Three Mile Bay Lighting District will continue to pay an additional \$1.68/\$1,000 for street lighting service.

As shown on Table 25 on the following page, Chaumont residents would see a 46% drop in their tax rate without the state consolidation incentive (CETC), and a 49% drop with it. TOV residents would see a 20% increase in their tax rate without the incentive and an 8% increase with CETC.

Table 25

Summary of Projected of Tax Rates for New Town (Compared to Current) per \$1,000 Assessed Value							
Former Village Former TOV							
Current	\$10.32		\$2.34				
Dissolution (w/o CETC)	\$5.56		\$2.81				
% change from Current		-46%		20%			
Dissolution (w/CETC)	\$5.29		\$2.53				
% change from Current		-49%		8%			

*TOV residents living in the Three Mile Bay Lighting District also pay an additional \$1.68/\$1,000 for street lighting service.

Current and Projected Tax Impact Shown for Property Assessed for \$50,000

Table 26 shows what the current tax bill is for a taxpayer in the Village or TOV with a property assessed at \$50,000. Table 27 shows the impact post dissolution for the same taxpayers, based on current budgets. The tables below exclude county and school taxes. They also exclude water and sewer charges billed separately to residents.

Table 26

Summary of Current Tax Bill for Village and TOV on Property Assessed at \$50,000 FY 2012							
Village TOV							
Townwide	\$40	\$40					
Townwide General (A)	\$13	\$13					
Townwide Highway (DA)	\$27	\$27					
Village ²	\$476	-					
Lyme Fire Protection	-	\$77					
Total	\$516	\$117					

Source: Jefferson County Real Property Office

*TOV residents living in the Three Mile Bay Lighting District also pay an additional \$84 for street lighting service.

Table 27

Summary of Projected Tax Bill for New Town on Property Assessed at \$50,000							
Former Village Former TOV							
Townwide*	\$72	\$72					
Chaumont Street Lighting District	\$52	-					
Chaumont Refuse District	\$86	-					
Lyme Fire Protection	\$68	\$68					
Total (without CETC)**	\$278	\$140					
Impact of CETC	-\$14	-\$14					
TOTAL (with CETC)**	\$264	\$127					

*TOV residents living in the Three Mile Bay Lighting District also pay an additional \$84 for street lighting service.

PART THREE: DISSOLUTION PLAN

Dissolution Plan of the Village of Chaumont By the Chaumont Dissolution Study Committee JULY 3, 2012

This document sets forth, in detail, the Dissolution Plan of the Village of Chaumont as developed by the Chaumont Dissolution Study Committee. Following submission of the Plan to the Village Board, it will be up to the Board to decide whether to adopt the Dissolution Plan to present to Village voters. If the Board decides to do so, the question of dissolution would be put before voters on November 6, 2012. If a proposition is put forward and is approved by a majority of Village voters, the Village of Chaumont would dissolve effective January 1, 2014.

The Study Committee believes this Dissolution Plan is consistent with the goals of the Town of Lyme, since it was developed and approved by a joint Village/Town Committee and incorporates Committee recommendations endorsed by the Town Board.

OVERVIEW

1. The local government entity to be dissolved shall be the Village of Chaumont, New York.

2. The territorial boundaries of the Village of Chaumont are as shown in Appendix D of the Study Committee's Final Report, entitled "Village of Chaumont Dissolution Study and Dissolution Plan." The Village of Chaumont is located entirely within the Town of Lyme, which is in Jefferson County, New York.

3. The type of entity is a village as defined in New York Village Law.

FISCAL ESTIMATE OF THE COST OF DISSOLUTION

4. The fiscal estimate of the cost of the dissolution is estimated to be approximately \$75,000. This includes the following cost components:

- Consultant fees to assist the Village in preparing the Plan and related documents and processes: \$45,000 (funded primarily with a New York State Local Government Efficiency grant)
- Legal fees to assist the Village researching legal issues, including transfer of the Village's contract with the Development Authority of the North Country (DANC) to the Town. The contract, which extends through July 2016, outsources responsibility for Village sewer facility operation and maintenance to DANC. Estimate for all legal services: \$22,000
- Miscellaneous advertisement fees, public referendum fees, etc.: \$8,000

A complete fiscal and tax impact analysis of dissolution is presented in Part Two of the Study Committee's Final Report.

TRANSFER OR ELIMINATION OF VILLAGE EMPLOYEES

5. The plan for the transfer or elimination of the current employees of the Village is shown below. All current Village employee positions will be eliminated. The Town will assume responsibility for the work provided by current Village employees as follows:

- The Mayor and Village Board positions will be eliminated. All associated personnel expenses will be saved since the Town will assume legislative responsibility for the former Village with no additional pay for its Town Board members. The size of the Town Board will not change. (*Estimated savings: \$12,900*)
- The Village Clerk-Treasurer will transfer to the Town as assistant to the supervisor, and the Town of Lyme will eliminate its second deputy Town Clerk position. The portion of the assistant to the supervisor's salary/benefits associated with Chaumont water billing will be charged to the Chaumont Water District (Lyme Water District #6); the portion for sewer billing duties will be charged to the Chaumont Sewer District. Salary/benefit estimates for water- and sewer-related duties are unchanged. Salary for the clerk duties is reduced, but higher benefit costs apply. (*Estimated cost increase: \$535*).
- The fulltime Village DPW employee will transfer to the Town Highway Department. The portion of salary/benefits associated with brush/recycling pickup will be charged to the Chaumont Refuse District; the portion associated with Chaumont water services will be charged to the Chaumont Water District (Lyme Water District #6); the portion associated with other highway department responsibilities will be charged the same as for Town Highway employees. Currently the position is covered by the Highway collective bargaining agreement, thus the Plan assumes union wage and health benefits apply. (*Estimated cost increase: \$21,150, with 50% absorbed by the Chaumont Water District and 5% by the Chaumont Refuse District. The remaining cost increase will be charged Townwide.*)
- The part-time Village DPW employee position will be eliminated. The cost of the brush/recycling pickup services provided by this position will remain and be charged to the Chaumont Refuse District. It will be a Town decision whom to hire or contract to do this work. *(Estimated savings: \$20,250).*
- The Village part-time code enforcement officer position will be eliminated. The Town's part-time code enforcement officer will become responsible for providing code enforcement services Townwide. For assuming additional responsibilities, the Town employee will receive increased compensation equal to 50% of the salary and benefits now budgeted for the Chaumont code enforcement officer position, plus the associated retirement benefit increase. *(Estimated savings: \$1,900)*
- The Village Planning and Zoning Board positions will be eliminated. (Estimated savings: \$1,670)

• Village recreation staff positions will become Town recreation staff positions. (Cost unchanged)

DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY OF THE VILLAGE & FUND BALANCES

6. All real property improved or not improved will become the property of the Town of Lyme. Water and sewer facilities will be assigned to the Chaumont water and sewer districts. The Town will take title to the Village real property with the understanding that the Town will honor all existing agreements or other arrangements between the Village and other users of Village property. Real property transferred to the Town will be done without consideration³³ and the Town will, at its option, prepare any and all deeds for the Village to execute prior to the date of dissolution.

• Village-owned real estate and real property are shown in the table below. The fair value is the current assessed value as provided by the Jefferson County Office of Real Property.

Chaumont - Villa	age Owned Property			
Parcel ID	Street	Class #	Property Class	Total AV
61.08-1-9.2	27831 Co Rte 179	823	Water Treatment	\$21,500
61.34-1-25.3	NYS Rte 12E	330	Vacant Comm.	\$3,000
61.42-2-18.3	Co Rte. 179	311	Res Vac Land	\$100
62.00-2-2	Morris Tract Rd	323	Vacant Rural	\$100
61.11-1-18.1	27870 Bay View Dr	590W	Park	\$66,000
61.11-1-80	27002 Hart Rd	820	Water-Public	\$100,000
61.34-1-23.1	W Main St	557	Outdoor Sport	\$65,600
61.34-1-23.3	SW of Main St	590	Park	\$7,000
61.34-1-25.1	11334 Circle Dr	651	Hwy Garage	\$12,600
61.42-2-1	Cor W Main & Water	972W	Underwater	\$5,500
61.43-1-4	N of E Main St	822	Water Supply	\$90,000
61.43-1-3.2	N of NYS Rte 12E	311	Res Vac Land	\$200

Source: Jefferson County Office of Real Property

- The insured value of Village-owned equipment is \$29,870 and of vehicles is \$17,400³⁴. The age of each asset is shown below:
 - \circ 1985 Tractor with brush hog and backhoe
 - o 1998 Ford Ranger
 - $\circ \quad 1998-Honda \ Trash \ Pump$
 - $\circ \quad 2001 Ford \ F150$

³³ Without consideration means a complete transfer of Village property to the Town without cost to the Town.

³⁴ Insured value of Village equipment and vehicles is 2012 value

- o 2002 Honda Generators (6)
- $\circ \quad 2002-Push\ Mower$
- $\circ \quad 2002-Trailer \ Mounted \ Generators$
- \circ 2002 Generators (2)
- \circ 2009 Zero Turn Mower
- Personal property owned by the Village at the time of dissolution will become the property of the Town. Personal property will mean and include office equipment, furniture, tools, parts inventory, and any other items commonly considered to be personal property.
- The Village does not own its own municipal building. Village full- and part-time (nonseasonal) employees work at or from the Town Municipal Building, which is owned by the Town of Lyme.
- The Village does not own the Chaumont Fire Hall or any fire apparatus. The fire hall and the fire equipment used to provide fire protection services to Chaumont residents are owned by the independent, nonprofit Chaumont Volunteer Fire Department.
- The street light poles, conduits and fixtures in the Village are owned and operated by National Grid, for which the Village currently pays rental costs as part of its street light bill.
- Village fund balances <u>remaining</u> upon Village dissolution will be transferred to the Town. The amounts that will actually transfer upon dissolution will be the amounts that are in each fund at the time dissolution takes effect. Amounts listed below provide information on status of fund balances when the Village fiscal year ended May 31, 2012. Funds that remain on the effective date of dissolution would transfer as follows:
 - $\circ~$ The Village Sewer Fund will transfer to the Chaumont Sewer District fund and be managed by the Town. (As of 5/31/12, the fund total was \$12,224).
 - The Village Water Fund will transfer to the Chaumont Water District Fund (Lyme Water District #6) and be managed by the Town. (As of 5/31/12, the fund total was \$48,867).
 - $\circ~$ The Village general fund will transfer to the Town. (As of 5/31/12, the fund total was \$46,681).

VILLAGE LIABILITIES AND DEBTS

7. The Village liabilities and indebtedness are as follows:

- Liabilities. None are known at this time. There are no current lawsuits or proceedings against the Village.
- Indebtedness As of 12/31/12, the Village had \$1.86 million in outstanding debt.

- The principal outstanding for the sewer fund is \$1,768,000. This debt, for the wastewater treatment plant and sewer line system installation, is charged as a user fee on Chaumont sewer bills. The debt will continue to be repaid in the same manner following dissolution, and will be a charge only for sewer users in the former Village. The debt will be paid off in 2032.
- The principal outstanding for the water fund is \$88,000. A total of \$34,000 of the debt is for repairs to the water tower, and this debt will be paid off in 2018. The remaining \$54,000 is for radio read equipment (digital meters and readers) purchased in late 2011, and this debt will be paid off in 2021. Water debt is charged on Chaumont water bills (though not separately itemized). Water debt will continue to be repaid in the same manner following dissolution, and will be charged only to water users in the former Village.

AGREEMENTS TO CARRY OUT DISSOLUTION

8. The Village and the Town currently have no agreements in order to carry out the dissolution. This Plan was developed following Town Board review and affirmation of the Committee's recommendations. The Committee anticipates that if dissolution of the Village is ultimately approved by Chaumont voters that the succeeding Town government will provide for and comply with the Plan set forth in this document. The Study Committee recognizes the Plan could be impacted by unforeseen circumstances occurring at the time of dissolution. Thus, this document is a plan, not a guarantee. However, both Town and Village representatives on the Committee endorse this Dissolution Plan, which was developed in good faith and with the input of all members of the Committee.

CONTINUATION OF VILLAGE FUNCTIONS OR SERVICES BY THE TOWN

9. Services formerly provided by the Village government will be provided as follows:

- Legislative services. Local government representation shall be provided by the Town Board.
- Administrative services. Clerical and administrative services formerly provided by the Village Clerk-Treasurer will be provided by the assistant to the Town supervisor and Town staff as determined by the Town. The Town will eliminate its second deputy Town Clerk position.
- Public works services (not including water and refuse services, which are addressed below). Street maintenance, snow plowing, park maintenance, mowing, grounds keeping, weed control, tennis court and beach maintenance, and related services provided by the former Village will be provided by the Town.
- Water. Services for Chaumont residents will be maintained and provided by the Town. The Town will create and establish by resolution a Special Improvement District to be known as the Chaumont Water District (Lyme water district #6) as provided by Article 12 and 12A of Town Law, and assume the responsibilities of the new Water District for water supply, and maintenance and repair of all existing water lines within Chaumont.

The boundaries of the Water District will be the boundaries of the existing Village. Costs for the Water District will be met by user fees. Existing Village water fund debt will be the responsibility of Water District users and be paid for through the user fees. Upon dissolution, current user fees are anticipated to cover about 88% of projected expenses. Several factors contribute to the projected shortfall, but the only one due to dissolution is that the employee providing water services will be a Town employee, eligible for union scale benefits. The associated cost increase is estimated at \$10,600, which is the 50% of the estimated cost increase described above in Part 5 for transfer of the fulltime Village DPW employee to the Town Highway Department.

- Sewer. Services for Village residents will be maintained. The Town will create and establish by resolution a Special Improvement District to be known as the Chaumont Sewer District as provided by Article 12 and 12A of Town Law. Operation and maintenance services for Village sewer facilities (e.g., wastewater treatment plant, wastewater collection system) will continue to be outsourced to the Development Authority of the North Country (DANC) under a contract extending through July 2016. Legal transfer of the contract will take effect upon dissolution. The boundaries of the Sewer District will be the boundaries of the existing Village. Costs for the Sewer District will be met by user fees. Existing Village sewer fund debt will become the responsibility of the newly formed Sewer District and be paid through user fees. Dissolution would have no significant impact on sewer expenses, since operation and maintenance is outsourced.
- Refuse. Garbage, brush and recycling services for the Village will be maintained. The Town will create and establish by resolution a Special Improvement District to be known as the Chaumont Refuse District as provided by Article 12 and 12A of Town Law. The Dissolution Plan anticipates that garbage pickup will continue to be outsourced under the current Village arrangement with a contractor and that the Town will be responsible for providing recycling and brush pickup. However, it will be up to the Town to determine the most cost-effective way to maintain refuse services for Chaumont residents. The boundaries of the Refuse District will be the boundaries of the existing Village, with costs billed as a separate district charge to Chaumont taxpayers on their annual Town tax bills. Due to the pro-rated cost of Town health insurance for staff providing refuse services, the estimated cost increase for this service is approximately \$1,000. This amount equates to the 5% of the estimated cost increase described above in Part 5 for transfer of the fulltime Village DPW employee to the Town Highway Department.
- Street lighting. Services for Village residents will be maintained. The Town will create and establish by resolution a Special Improvement District to be known as the Chaumont Street Lighting District as provided by Article 12 and 12A of Town Law. The Town will be responsible for providing street lighting services within the boundaries of the existing Village, with costs billed as a separate district charge to Chaumont taxpayers on their annual Town tax bills. There will be no change in cost as a result of dissolution.

- Code enforcement / planning / zoning. Code enforcement services provided by the former Village will be provided by the Town, and the Town Planning and Zoning Boards will provide the services provided by the former Village Planning and Zoning Boards. Estimated cost savings, as previously noted in Part 5 of this Plan, total \$3,570.
- Fire and EMS. There are a number of changes that will occur to ensure that fire and EMS services continue to be provided Townwide, and some aspects of both services that will continue unchanged. As a result, the amount expended community-wide on fire protection and emergency response services will not be affected by dissolution. The Plan components are as follows:
 - Fire. The former Village will be included in the Lyme Fire Protection District. The Town will contract with the Chaumont Volunteer Fire Department and the Three Mile Bay Fire Department to provide fire protection services Townwide. It will be up to the Town to determine the boundaries of their service areas. There will be no increase in the contracted amount due to dissolution.

All properties within the former Village that are required to be taxed for fire protection service will have a separate tax on their Town tax bill in accordance with current tax law, and the rate will be identical for all taxpayers in the Lyme Fire Protection District. The projected special district rate, based on 2012 fiscal year information, will be \$1.37 per \$1,000.

• EMS. The Three Mile Bay Fire Department will receive \$35,000 for providing ambulance service within Lyme. There will be no separate charge for taxpayers, since this service will be included in the Townwide tax.³⁵

The Chaumont Fire Department will receive \$15,000 from the Town for First Responder service, and the department will respond with a designated vehicle when the Three Mile Bay Fire Department ambulance is called to a location anywhere in Lyme. There will be no separate charge for taxpayers, since this service will be included in the Townwide tax.³⁶

- Fuel. Taxpayers will continue to pay for fuel costs for both departments (fire and EMS) as part of their Town tax bills. Dissolution will have no impact on the amount budgeted (currently \$5,000, with each department receiving 50%).
- Police. The Town will continue to be responsible for determining the level of police service in the community and for hiring police personnel. Dissolution will have no impact on the amount expended Townwide for police services.

³⁵ Ambulance service currently equates to \$0.31 per \$1,000 for taxpayers Townwide, and dissolution will have no impact on this rate.

³⁶ First responder service, based on the 2012 fiscal year budgets, equates to \$0.13 per \$1,000 for taxpayers Townwide. The amount expended for First Responder service is equivalent to the amount budgeted by the Village in 2011-12 for the Chaumont F.D.

- Recreation services provided by the Town, including the hiring of seasonal recreation staff, will become the responsibility of the Town. There will be no change in the amount expended communitywide on recreation services as a result of dissolution.
- Library. The contribution to the Lyme Free Library by the former Village will become a Town contribution, with no reduction in the amount of the Town's contribution to the Library.
- Special contributions. Special contributions to the Garden Club and Lyme Light by the former Village will be eliminated.
- Municipal association dues paid by the former Village to the New York Conference of Mayors will be eliminated.
- Animal control. Funds budgeted by the former Village (currently \$600) to use for contracting for services, as needed, will be eliminated. The Town will be responsible for arranging for this service, whenever needed.
- Court, assessor, public health, economic opportunity, and cemetery services. These services, now provided 100% by the Town, will be unchanged.
- Village attorney. The contract for the Village attorney will be eliminated. The Town will be responsible for providing attorney services.
- Village elections. These services will be eliminated.

See Part Two of this Final Report for the detailed fiscal impact of the Plan components described above in Section 9.

DISPOSITION OF VILLAGE ASSETS WHEN DISSOLUTION IS EFFECTIVE

10. The Village will dispose of those assets remaining on the effective date of the dissolution by turning them over to the Town to become Town assets. The Village knows of no liabilities at this time that would become the responsibility of the Town upon dissolution of the Village. The Village cannot project whether or not there may be uncollected taxes upon the date of dissolution; however, any uncollected taxes will have been turned over to the County per current practice.

VILLAGE LAWS AND ORDINANCES

11. In 1978 the Village of Chaumont adopted a new code book (the "Red Book") that listed all local laws, ordinances and resolutions in effect, and repealed all laws, ordinances and resolutions not in the code. The Red Book, a bound book, was updated periodically, with the last updates occurring in 2004. Subsequently, new Village laws and ordinances were maintained in a special folder in the Village office.

The list below shows the impact of dissolution on codes in the Red Book, excluding any that were listed as repealed or superseded. Codes listed as NA (not applicable) will not be effective

upon dissolution of the Village. All other codes listed, in accordance with GML Article 17-A §789, remain in effect for a period of two years following dissolution, as if the same had been duly adopted by the Town Board. They shall be enforced by the Town within the limits of the dissolved Village, except that the Town Board shall have the power at any time to amend or repeal such local laws, ordinances, rules or regulations in the manner as other local laws, ordinances, rules or regulations of the Town.

Key Definitions

- NA Village code is no longer applicable; is not enforced; has been_superseded; or is irrelevant upon dissolution. These codes do not become part of Town law when dissolution takes effect.
- A Codes that should be rewritten as Town laws, following Town review
- B Codes for which the Town currently has a similar law in effect. Provisions of the Village law may only need to be incorporated in existing Town law.

Impact of Dissolution on Laws and Ordinances Listed in the Village "Red Book"

(in the order in which they appear in the book)

<u>KEY</u>	<u>DESCRIPTION OF CODE</u>
NA	Adoption of Village Code Book (Red Book)
А	Beaches – posting of hours of use and penalties
В	Bingo – licensing and restrictions (see Town Law #2, 1958 regarding Bingo; Town Law #1, 1991, regarding games of chance)
А	Curfew – addresses loitering, penalties
NA	Setting of building permit fee
NA	Defense / indemnification of Village officers / employees
В	Dogs – leash, barking requirements and penalties (see Town Law #3, 2010, dog control)
NA	Village ethics code
NA	Village Fire Department inspections
В	Flood Control (see Town Law #2, 1989, which amended a 1987 law, regarding areas of special flood hazard; Town Law #2, 1993 regarding flood damage prevention)

Impact of Dissolution on Village Laws Passed Since 2005

<u>YEAR</u> <u>LAW KEY</u> <u>DESCRIPTION OF CODE</u>

2005	#1	А	Prohibiting the use of free standing, fuel burning equipment
2005	#2	В	Development of wireless communication facilities (see Town Law #1, 2002 on same topic)
2005	#3	NA	Annexation of property into the Village
2006	#1	А	Supplementary regulations for multi-family dwellings
2006	#2	А	Regulations for new construction in an historic district
2007	#1	А	Amendments to the Village land development code
2009	#1	А	Amendments to the Village land development code
2009	#2	В	Administration of NY uniform fire prevention and building code (see Town Law #1, 1983)
2011	#1	А	Traffic patterns in school zone neighborhoods
2011	#2	NA	Annexation of property into the Village
2011	#3	А	Chaumont property maintenance law

EFFECTIVE DISSOLUTION DATE

12. Should the Village dissolve, the dissolution will be effective on January 1, 2014.

OFFICIAL PUBLIC HEARING

13. The Village will hold an official public hearing at 7 p.m. on August 21, 2012 at the Chaumont Fire Hall.³⁷

OTHER MATTERS PERTINENT TO DISSOLUTION

14. Other matters -A) loss of specific revenue upon Village dissolution, and B) summary of the fiscal impact of dissolution.

A) Revenue Impact. Dissolution will result in the loss of the former Village's Utilities Gross Receipts Tax revenue (currently \$5,000). Under NY law, towns are not eligible to receive this revenue. The Committee notes, however, that upon dissolution, Chaumont utility customers will no longer be charged this tax, which equates to approximately 2% - 4% of electric and phone bills.

³⁷ The Village's official public hearing on the Dissolution Plan is contingent upon the Village Board endorsing the Dissolution Plan when it meets in mid-July 2012.

B) Fiscal impact. The table below identifies how tax bills would have been affected in fiscal year 2012 had Village dissolution been in effect. It is important to note that upon dissolution, the combined single government would become eligible for a Citizen Empowerment Tax Credit (CETC). This is an annual incentive from NYS for consolidating governments. The incentive, which must be authorized by the State Legislature in each annual budget, is based on a formula (15% of the municipalities' combined tax levies when they consolidate). The table shows the fiscal impact both with and without the CETC, and assumes 100% of the CETC is applied to reduce taxes for all Lyme taxpayers. The CETC, based on 2012 fiscal year budgets, equates to \$0.28 per \$1,000 for all taxpayers.

The table below excludes county and school taxes, since they are unaffected by dissolution. It also excludes water and sewer charges, since these charges are billed as user fees to Chaumont residents.³⁸

Summary of Projected Tax Rates for Single Government (Compared to Current) per \$1,000 Assessed Value							
Former Village Former TOV							
Current	\$10.32	\$2.34					
Dissolution (w/o CETC)	\$5.56	\$2.81					
% change from Current	-46%	20%					
Dissolution (w/CETC)	\$5.29	\$2.53					
% change from Current	-49%	8%					

*Town-outside-Village (TOV) residents served by the Three Mile Bay Lighting District pay an additional 1.68/1,000 for street lighting service in the hamlet.

As shown in the table, Chaumont residents would see a 46% drop in their tax rate without the state consolidation incentive (CETC), and a 49% drop with it. Town-outside-Village (TOV) residents would see a 20% increase in their tax rate without the incentive and an 8% increase with CETC. As previously noted, these projections are based on the Village 2011-12 and the Town 2012 budgets.

Note: Detailed fiscal information is available in Part Two of this Final Report.

³⁸ See Parts One and Two of this Final Report for additional information on water and sewer services.

Appendix A



Chaumont 2011-12 and Lyme 2012 Budgets

Code	Description	Lyme Town Budget 2012	% of Town Total	Chaumont Village Budget 2011- 2012	% of Village Total	Community Total	% of Community
ESTIMATED	EXPENDITURES						
Budgetary I	Provisions for Other Purposes						
DA962	Budgetary Prov Other Purposes	\$50,000	2.3%	\$0	0.0%	\$50,000	1.8%
F1-962	Budgetary Prov Other Purposes	\$100	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$100	0.0%
F2-962	Budgetary Prov Other Purposes	\$792	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$792	0.0%
F4-962	Budgetary Prov Other Purposes	\$270	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$270	0.0%
F5-962	Budgetary Prov Other Purposes	\$200	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$200	0.0%
	Total Budgetary Provisions	\$51,362	2.3%	\$0	0.0%	\$51,362	1.8%
Legislative							
A1010.1	Town Board Personal Services (P.S.)	\$19,540	0.9%	\$7,000	1.2%	\$26,540	0.9%
A1010.4	Town Board Contractual Expenses (C.E.)	\$9,500	0.4%	\$0	0.0%	\$9,500	0.3%
	Total Legislative	\$29,040	1.3%	\$7,000	1.2%	\$36,040	1.3%
Judicial							
A1110.10	Municipal Court P.S.	\$16,974	0.8%	\$0	0.0%	\$16,974	0.6%
A1110.12	Court Clerk P.S.	\$5,304	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$5,304	0.2%
A1110.2	Municipal Court Equipment (Eq.)	\$200	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$200	0.0%
A1110.4	Municipal Court C.E.	\$1,300	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$1,300	0.0%
	Total Judicial	\$23,778	1.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$23,778	0.2%
Executive							
A1210.1	Mayor P.S.	\$0	0.0%	\$5,000	0.8%	\$5,000	0.2%
A1210.4	Mayor C.E.	\$0	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$0	0.0%
A1220.1	Supervisor P.S.	\$10,300	0.5%	\$0	0.0%	\$10,300	0.4%
A1220.4	Supervisor C.E.	\$23,000	1.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$23,000	0.8%
	Total Executive	\$33,300	1.5%	\$5,000	0.8%	\$38,300	1.4%
Finance							
A1310.1	Payroll P.S.	\$4,244	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$4,244	0.2%
A1310.2	Payroll Eq.	\$1,000	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$1,000	0.0%
A1310.4	Payroll C.E.	\$15,500	0.7%	\$0	0.0%	\$15,500	0.6%
A1325.1	Treasurer P.S.	\$0	0.0%	\$35,000	5.9%	\$35,000	1.3%
A1325.4	Treasurer C.E.	\$0	0.0%	\$6,000	1.0%	\$6,000	0.2%
A1330.1	Tax Collection P.S.	\$5,304	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$5,304	0.2%
A1330.2	Tax Collection Eq.	\$500	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$500	0.0%
A1330.4	Tax Collection C.E.	\$2,000	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$2,000	0.1%
A1355.1	Assessment P.S.	\$28,511	1.3%	\$0	0.0%	\$28,511	1.0%
A1355.2	Assessment Eq.	\$1,500	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$1,500	0.1%
A1355.4	Assessment C.E.	\$3,500	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$3,500	0.1%
	Total Finance	\$62,059	2.8%	\$41,000	6.9%	\$103,059	3.7%
Municipal S	itaff						
A1410.1	Town Clerk P.S.	\$31,615	1.4%	\$0	0.0%	\$31,615	1.1%
A1410.2	Town Clerk Eq.	\$1,500	0.1%		0.0%	\$1,500	0.1%
A1410.4	Town Clerk C.E.	\$2,000	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$2,000	0.1%
A1420.4	Attorney C.E.	\$15,000	0.7%		0.8%	\$20,000	0.7%
A1430.11	Deputy Town Clerk P.S.	\$14,428	0.7%	\$0	0.0%	\$14,428	0.5%
A1430.12	2nd Deputy Town Clerk P.S.	\$2,000	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$2,000	0.1%
A1450.4	Elections C.E.	\$1,000	0.0%	\$300	0.1%	\$1,300	0.0%
	Total Municipal Staff	\$67,543	3.1%	\$5,300	0.9%	\$72,843	2.6%
Registrar							
A1601.1	Registrar P.S.	\$0	0.0%	\$25	0.0%	\$25	0.0%
	Total Registrar	\$0	0.0%	\$25	0.0%	\$25	0.0%

Code	Description	Lyme Town Budget 2012	% of Town Total	Chaumont Village Budget 2011- 2012	% of Village Total	Community Total	% of Community
Shared Serv	vices						
A1620.1	Buildings P.S.	\$4,700	0.2%	\$1,200	0.2%	\$5,900	0.2%
A1620.2	Buildings Eq.	\$75,000	3.4%	\$0	0.0%	\$75,000	2.7%
A1620.4	Buildings C.E.	\$70,000	3.2%	\$1,600	0.3%	\$71,600	2.6%
A1620.42	Buildings Water Facility C.E.	\$5,000	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$5,000	0.2%
A1640.1	Central Garage P.S.	\$0	0.0%	\$9,000	1.5%	\$9,000	0.3%
A1640.2	Central Garage Eq.	\$0	0.0%	\$2,500	0.4%	\$2,500	0.1%
A1640.4	Central Garage C.E.	\$0	0.0%		1.2%		0.3%
	Total Shared Services	\$154,700	7.0%	\$21,300	3.6%	\$176,000	6.3%
Special Item							
A1910.4	Unallocated Insurance	\$45,000	2.0%	\$8,700	1.5%	\$53,700	1.9%
F1-1910.4	Unallocated Insurance	\$40	0.0%	\$0	0.0%		0.0%
F2-1910.4	Unallocated Insurance	\$120	0.0%		0.0%		0.0%
F4-1910.4	Unallocated Insurance	\$120	0.0%		0.0%		0.0%
F5-1910.4	Unallocated Insurance	\$40	0.0%		0.0%		0.0%
A1920.4	Municipal Asst. Dues	\$40	0.0%		0.0%		0.0%
F1920.4	Municipal Asst. Dues	\$800 \$0	0.0%		0.1%		0.1%
	Municipal Asst. Dues & Miscellaneous	\$0 \$0	0.0%				
G1920.4					0.3%		0.1%
A1950.4	Taxes and Assessment	\$500	0.0%		0.0%		0.0%
A1989.4	Miscellaneous - CGR Fee	\$0	0.0%	\$5,000	0.8%	. ,	0.2%
F1989.4	Other General Gov't Support C.E.	\$0	0.0%		0.0%		0.0%
A1990.4	Contingency Acct.	\$11,000	0.5%	\$1,500	0.3%		0.4%
F1990.4	Contingency Acct.	\$0	0.0%	\$500	0.1%		0.0%
G1990.5	Contingency Acct.	\$0	0.0%		0.2%		0.0%
	Total Special Items	\$57,540	2.6%	\$19,500	3.3%	\$77,040	2.8%
Law Enforce							
A3120.1	Police P.S.	\$0	0.0%	\$1,200	0.2%	. ,	0.0%
B3120.1	Police P.S.	\$11,989	0.5%	1.5	0.0%	. ,	0.4%
B3120.2	Police Eq.	\$2,500	0.1%		0.0%		0.1%
B3120.4	Police C.E.	\$1,500	0.1%		0.0%		0.1%
	Total Law Enforcement	\$15,989	0.7%	\$1,200	0.2%	\$17,189	0.6%
Fire Protect							
A3410.4	Fire Contract C.E Chaumont (Village)	\$0	0.0%	\$15,000	2.5%	\$15,000	0.5%
A3410.4	Fire Dept Gas C.E Three Mile Bay (TMB)	\$3,000	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$3,000	0.1%
A3410.41	Fire Dept Gas C.E Chaumont	\$3,000	0.1%	· · · · · ·	0.0%		0.1%
SF3410.41	Fire Contract C.E TMB	\$77,000	3.5%	\$0	0.0%	. ,	
SF3410.42	Fire Contract C.E Chaumont	\$77,000	3.5%		0.0%	\$77,000	2.8%
	Total Fire Protection	\$160,000	7.3%	\$15,000	2.5%	\$175,000	6.3%
Animal Cont	trol						
A3510.1	Dog Control P.S.	\$0	0.0%	\$600	0.1%	\$600	0.0%
A3520.4	Control of Other Animals C.E.	\$500	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$500	0.0%
	Total Animal Control	\$500	0.0%	\$600	0.1%	\$1,100	0.0%
Other							
	Examining Boards C.E.	\$600	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$600	0.0%
A3610.4	Safety Inspection P.S.	\$0	0.0%	\$1,000	0.2%		0.0%
A3610.4 A3620.1		\$600	0.0%	\$1,000	0.2%	\$1,600	0.1%
	Total Other	3000	0.070	+-/			
		5000	0.070	+_,			
A3620.1		\$2,000	0.1%		0.0%	\$2,000	0.1%
A3620.1 Public Healt	h Program	\$2,000		\$0	0.0%		
A3620.1 Public Healt B4010.1	h Program Board of Health P.S.		0.1%	\$0 \$0		\$1,500	0.1%
A3620.1 Public Healt B4010.1 B4010.4	h Program Board of Health P.S. Board of Health C.E. Vital Statistics C.E.	\$2,000 \$1,500 \$700	0.1% 0.1% 0.0%	\$0 \$0 \$0 \$0	0.0% 0.0%	\$1,500 \$700	0.1% 0.0%
A3620.1 Public Healt B4010.1 B4010.4 A4020.4	h Program Board of Health P.S. Board of Health C.E. Vital Statistics C.E. Total Public Health Program	\$2,000 \$1,500	0.1% 0.1%	\$0 \$0 \$0 \$0	0.0%	\$1,500 \$700	0.1%
A3620.1 Public Healt B4010.1 B4010.4	h Program Board of Health P.S. Board of Health C.E. Vital Statistics C.E. Total Public Health Program	\$2,000 \$1,500 \$700	0.1% 0.1% 0.0%	\$0 \$0 \$0 \$0	0.0% 0.0%	\$1,500 \$700 \$4,200	0.1% 0.0% 0.2%

Code	Description	Lyme Town Budget 2012	% of Town Total	Chaumont Village Budget 2011- 2012	% of Village Total	Community Total	% of Community
Highway							
A5010.1	Supt of Highways P.S.	\$50,000	2.3%	\$0	0.0%	\$50,000	1.8%
A5010.11	Highway Deputy P.S.	\$2,080	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$2,080	0.1%
A5010.2	Supt of Highways Eq.	\$1,000	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$1,000	0.0%
A5010.4	Supt of Highways C.E.	\$800	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$800	0.0%
A5110.1	General Repairs P.S.	\$0	0.0%	\$13,000	2.2%	\$13,000	0.5%
DB5110.1	General Repairs P.S.	\$85,000	3.9%	\$0	0.0%	\$85,000	3.0%
A5110.2	General Repairs Eq.	\$0	0.0%	\$1,000	0.2%	\$1,000	0.0%
A5110.4	General Repairs C.E.	\$0	0.0%	\$31,850	5.3%	\$31,850	1.1%
DB5110.4	General Repairs C.E.	\$1,500	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$1,500	0.1%
DB5112.1	Improvements P.S.	\$2,500	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$2,500	0.1%
DB5112.4	Improvements C.E.	\$100,000	4.5%	\$0	0.0%	\$100,000	3.6%
DA5130.1	Machinery P.S.	\$75,500	3.4%	\$0	0.0%	\$75,500	2.7%
DA5130.2	Machinery Eq.	\$50,000	2.3%	\$0	0.0%	\$50,000	1.8%
DA5130.4	Machinery C.E.	\$80,000	3.6%	\$0	0.0%	\$80,000	2.9%
DA5140.1	Brush & Weeds P.S.	\$5,360	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$5,360	0.2%
A5142.1	Snow Removal P.S.	\$0	0.0%	\$6,000	1.0%	\$6,000	0.2%
DA5142.1	Snow Removal P.S.	\$84,200	3.8%	\$0	0.0%	\$84,200	3.0%
DA5142.12	Snow Removal MEO P.S.	\$35,232	1.6%	\$0	0.0%	\$35,232	1.3%
A5142.2	Snow Removal Eq.	\$0	0.0%	\$2,000	0.3%	\$2,000	0.1%
DA5142.4	Snow Removal C.E.	\$83,000	3.8%	\$0	0.0%	\$83,000	3.0%
DA5148.1	Services for Other Gov P.S.	\$45,000	2.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$45,000	1.6%
A5182.4	Street Lighting C.E.	\$0	0.0%	\$12,500	2.1%	\$12,500	0.4%
SL5182.4	Street Lighting C.E.	\$5,820	0.3%	\$0	0.0%	\$5,820	0.2%
DA5680.4	Other Transportation (Fuel) C.E.	\$65,000	3.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$65,000	2.3%
	Total Highway	\$771,992	35.1%	\$66,350	11.1%	\$838,342	30.0%
Economic O	pportunity and Development						
A6310.4	Town Development Fund C.E.	\$4,500	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$4,500	0.2%
A6410.4	Publicity C.E.	\$6,000	0.3%	\$0	0.0%	\$6,000	0.2%
A6510.4	Veterans Service C.E.	\$1,000	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$1,000	0.0%
A6610.4	Volunteer Transportation C.E.	\$720	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$720	0.0%
A6710.4	Lyme Foundation C.E.	\$4,120	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$4,120	0.1%
A6810.4	Lyme Garden Club C.E.	\$3,090	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$3,090	0.1%
	Total Economic Opportunity and Development	\$19,430	0.9%	\$0	0.0%	\$19,430	0.7%
Recreation							
B7110.4	Parks C.E.	\$3,605	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	. ,	0.1%
A7140.1	Playground/Rec Center P.S.	\$4,705	0.2%	\$13,000	2.2%		0.6%
A7140.2	Playground/Rec Center Eq.	\$0	0.0%	\$2,500	0.4%	\$2,500	0.1%
A7140.4	Playground/Rec Center C.E	\$3,862	0.2%	\$2,500	0.4%	\$6,362	0.2%
A7140.41	Morris Track Rec Park C.E.	\$2,500	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$2,500	0.1%
A7310.1	Teen Center P.S.	\$4,060	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$4,060	0.1%
A7310.2	Teen Center Eq.	\$500	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$500	0.0%
A7310.4	Teen Center C.E.	\$4,000	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$4,000	0.1%
	Total Recreation	\$23,232	1.1%	\$18,000	3.0%	\$41,232	1.5%
Culture							
A7410.4	Library C.E.	\$0	0.0%	\$2,500	0.4%	\$2,500	0.1%
B7410.4	Library C.E.	\$11,248	0.5%	\$0	0.0%	\$11,248	0.4%
A7510.1	Historian P.S.	\$637	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$637	0.0%
A7510.4	Historian C.E.	\$500	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$500	0.0%
	Total Culture	\$12,385	0.6%	\$2,500	0.4%	\$14,885	0.5%

Code	Description	Lyme Town Budget 2012	% of Town Total	Chaumont Village Budget 2011- 2012	% of Village Total	Community Total	% of Community
General Env	<i>i</i> ronment						
A8010.1	Zoning P.S.	\$0	0.0%	\$4,000	0.7%	\$4,000	0.1%
B8010.1	Zoning (ZEO) P.S.	\$12,390	0.6%	\$0	0.0%	\$12,390	0.4%
B8010.11	Zoning (Dep. Clerk) P.S.	\$3,000		\$0	0.0%	\$3,000	0.1%
B8010.12	Zoning (ZBA) P.S.	\$3,457	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$3,457	0.1%
B8010.13	Zoning (ZBA Clerk) P.S.	\$1,000		\$0	0.0%	\$1,000	0.0%
B8010.2	Zoning Eq.	\$1,500	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$1,500	0.1%
A8010.4	Zoning C.E.	\$0	0.0%	\$50	0.0%	\$50	0.0%
B8010.4	Zoning C.E.	\$2,500	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$2,500	0.1%
B8020.1	Planning P.S.	\$3,500	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$3,500	0.1%
B8020.13	Planning (Dep. Clerk) P.S.	\$1,000	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$1,000	0.0%
A8020.4	Planning C.E.	\$0	0.0%	\$1,500	0.3%	\$1,500	0.1%
B8020.4	Planning C.E.	\$2,500	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$2,500	0.1%
2002011	Total General Environment	\$30,847	1.4%	\$5,550	0.9%	\$36,397	1.3%
Sewage		<i>\$56,617</i>	111/0	<i> <i> <i> <i> <i> <i> </i></i></i></i></i></i>	0.570	<i><i><i>qsssssssssssss</i></i></i>	1.070
G8110.1	Legal & Admin P.S.	\$0	0.0%	\$1,500	0.3%	\$1,500	
G8110.1 G8110.2	Legal & Admin P.S.	\$0 \$0	0.0%	\$1,500	0.3%	\$1,500	
G8110.2 G8110.4	Legal & Admin Eq. Legal & Admin C.E.	\$0 \$0	0.0%	\$3,000	0.1%	\$3,000	0.1%
		\$0 \$0					
G8120.2	Sanitary Sewers Eq.	\$0 \$0	0.0%	\$12,000	2.0% 5.9%	\$12,000	0.4%
G8120.4	Sanitary Sewers C.E.		0.0%	\$35,000		\$35,000	1.3%
G8130.4	Sewage Treatment & Disposal C.E.	\$0	0.0%	\$1,200	0.2%	\$1,200	0.0%
G8140.1	Storm Sewers P.S.	\$0	0.0%	\$17,000	2.8%	\$17,000	0.6%
G8140.4	Storm Sewers C.E.	\$0	0.0%	\$26,000	4.4%	\$26,000	0.9%
	Total Sewage	\$0	0.0%	\$96,200	16.1%	\$96,200	3.4%
Sanitation							
A8160.1	Refuse and Garbage P.S.	\$60,770	2.8%	\$12,500	2.1%	\$73,270	2.6%
A8160.2	Refuse and Garbage Eq.	\$10,000	0.5%	\$0	0.0%	\$10,000	0.4%
A8160.4	Refuse and Garbage C.E.	\$80,000	3.6%	\$18,000	3.0%	\$98,000	3.5%
	Total Sanitation	\$150,770	6.9%	\$30,500	5.1%	\$181,270	6.5%
Water							
A8310.1	Water Admin P.S.	\$4,775	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$4,775	0.2%
F8310.1	Water Admin P.S.	\$0	0.0%	\$5,500	0.9%	\$5,500	0.2%
F1-8310.1	Water Admin P.S.	\$3,697	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$3,697	0.1%
F2-8310.1	Water Admin P.S.	\$12,000	0.5%	\$0	0.0%	\$12,000	0.4%
F3-8310.1	Water Admin P.S.	\$150	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$150	0.0%
F4-8310.1	Water Admin P.S.	\$4,744	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$4,744	0.2%
F5-8310.1	Water Admin P.S.	\$3,500	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$3,500	0.1%
F8310.2	Water Admin Eq.	\$0	0.0%	\$500	0.1%	\$500	0.0%
A8310.4	Water Admin C.E.	\$500	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$500	0.0%
F8310.4	Water Admin C.E.	\$0	0.0%	\$2,600	0.4%	\$2,600	0.1%
F1-8310.4	Water Admin C.E.	\$12,118	0.6%		0.0%	\$12,118	0.4%
F2-8310.4	Water Admin C.E.	\$50,517	2.3%		0.0%	\$50,517	1.8%
F3-8310.4	Water Admin C.E.	\$250	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$250	0.0%
F4-8310.4	Water Admin C.E.	\$6,898	0.3%		0.0%	\$6,898	0.0%
F5-8310.4	Water Admin C.E.	\$11,360	0.5%		0.0%	\$11,360	0.2%
F8320.2	Source of Supply, Power & Pumping Eq.	\$11,500 \$0	0.0%		1.7%	\$10,000	0.4%
F8320.2	Source of Supply, Power & Pumping Eq.	\$0 \$0	0.0%		1.7%		0.4%
						\$10,000	
F8330.4	Purification C.E.	\$0 ¢250	0.0%	\$500	0.1%	\$500	0.0%
F1-8330.4	Purification C.E.	\$350	0.0%		0.0%	\$350	0.0%
F2-8330.4	Purification C.E.	\$900	0.0%		0.0%	\$900	0.0%
F4-8330.4	Purification C.E.	\$213	0.0%		0.0%	\$213	0.0%
F5-8330.4	Purification C.E.	\$200	0.0%		0.0%	\$200	0.0%
F8340.1	Transportation & Distribution P.S.	\$0	0.0%		2.0%	\$12,000	0.4%
F8340.2	Transportation & Distribution Eq.	\$0	0.0%	\$500	0.1%	\$500	0.0%
F8340.4	Transportation & Distribution C.E.	\$0	0.0%		16.8%	\$100,000	3.6%
	Total Water	\$112,172	5.1%	\$141,600	23.7%	\$253,772	9.1%
Code	Description	Lyme Town Budget 2012	% of Town Total	Chaumont Village Budget 2011- 2012	% of Village Total	Community Total	% of Community
------------------------	-------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------	-----------------------	---------------------------------------------	--------------------------	------------------------------	-------------------
Special Serv	vices						
A8810.11	Cemeteries-Fox Creek P.S.	\$500	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$500	0.0%
A8810.12	Cemetaries-TMB P.S.	\$2,400	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$2,400	0.1%
A8810.13	Cemeteries-TMB P.S.	\$3,500	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$3,500	0.1%
A8810.2	Cemeteries/Ballfield Eq.	\$2,000	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$2,000	0.1%
A8810.21	Cemetaries-TMB Eq.	\$500	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$500	0.0%
A8810.4	Cemeteries/Ballfield C.E.	\$16,000	0.7%	\$0	0.0%	\$16,000	0.6%
A8810.41	Cemeteries-TMB C.E.	\$1,200	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$1,200	0.0%
A8810.42	Abandoned Cemetery	\$5,000	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$5,000	0.2%
	Total Special Services	\$31,100	1.4%	\$0	0.0%	\$31,100	1.1%
Employee B	Senefits						
A9010.8	State Retirement	\$16,500	0.8%	\$0	0.0%	\$16,500	0.6%
DA9010.8	State Retirement	\$19,000	0.9%	\$0	0.0%	\$19,000	0.7%
DB9010.8	State Retirement	\$10,000	0.5%	\$0	0.0%	\$10,000	0.4%
A9030.8	Social Security	\$21,500	1.0%	\$8,000	1.3%	\$29,500	1.1%
A9030.81	Social Security Water Board	\$350	0.0%	0	0	\$350	0.0%
B9030.8	Social Security	\$2,907	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$2,907	0.1%
DA9030.8	Social Security	\$17,000	0.8%	\$0	0.0%	\$17,000	0.6%
DB9030.8	Social Security	\$6,690	0.3%	\$0	0.0%	\$6,690	0.2%
F9030.8	Social Security	\$0	0.0%	\$1,300	0.2%	\$1,300	0.0%
F1-9030.8	Social Security	\$300	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$300	0.0%
F2-9030.8	Social Security	\$912	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$912	0.0%
F3-9030.8	Social Security	\$13	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$13	0.0%
F4-9030.8	Social Security	\$427	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$427	0.0%
F5-9030.8	Social Security	\$399	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$399	0.0%
G9030.8	Social Security	\$355 \$0	0.0%	\$1,500	0.3%	\$1,500	0.1%
A9040.8	Worker's Compensation	\$0	0.0%	\$4,100	0.3%	\$4,100	0.1%
A9045.8	Shoe Allowance	\$500	0.0%	\$0 \$0	0.0%	\$500	0.1%
DA9045.8	Shoe Allowance	\$600	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$500	0.0%
DB9045.8	Shoe Allowance	\$000	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$1,200	0.0%
A9050.8	Unemployment Insurance	\$10,000	0.1%	\$0 \$1,000	0.0%	\$11,000	0.0%
A9055.8	Disability Insurance	\$10,000	0.3%	\$1,000	0.2%	\$11,000	0.4%
A9055.8 A9060.8	Hospital/Medical Insurance	\$55,000	2.5%	\$25,000	4.2%	\$80,000	2.9%
DA9060.8	Hospital/Medical Insurance	\$35,000 \$87,000	4.0%	\$23,000 \$0	0.0%	\$80,000	3.1%
DA9060.8	Hospital/Medical Insurance	\$35,000	4.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$35,000	1.3%
DB9000.8		\$35,000 \$288,298	13.1%	\$41,025	6.9%	\$329,323	1.3%
Debt Service		\$200,250	13.1/0	Ş41,023	0.370	<i>323,323</i>	11.070
F1-9710.6	Debt Service - Principal	\$1,500	0.1%	\$0	0.0%	\$1,500	0.1%
F2-9710.6	Debt Service - Principal	\$16,300	0.1%	\$0 \$0	0.0%	\$16,300	0.1%
F4-9710.6	Debt Service - Principal	\$16,300	0.1%	\$0 \$0	0.0%	\$10,300	0.0%
F5-9710.6	Debt Service - Principal	\$1,100	0.1%	\$0 \$0	0.0%	\$1,100	
F1-9710.7	Debt Service - Interest	\$8,726	0.4%	\$0 \$0	0.0%	\$8,726	
F2-9730.7	Debt Service - Interest Debt Service - Interest	\$2,200 \$21,000	1.0%	\$0 \$0	0.0%	\$2,200 \$21,000	0.1%
F2-9730.7 F4-9730.7			0.2%	\$0 \$0	0.0%		
	Debt Service - Interest	\$4,000 \$9,200	0.2%	\$0 \$0		\$4,000 \$9,200	0.1%
F5-9730.7	Debt Service - Interest				0.0%		0.3%
F9750.6	Budget Notes - Principal	\$0 ¢0	0.0%	\$6,000	1.0%	\$6,000	
G9770.6	Revenue Anticipated Notes - Principal Total Debt Service	\$0 \$64,026	0.0% 2.9%	\$72,000 \$78,000	12.1% 13.1%	\$72,000 \$142,026	

Code	Description	Lyme Town Budget 2012	% of Town Total	Chaumont Village Budget 2011- 2012	% of Village Total	Community Total	% of Community
ESTIMATED	REVENUES						
Real Proper							
A1001	Real Property Taxes	\$28,707	1.3%	\$115,450	19.3%	\$144,157	5.2%
DA1001	Real Property Taxes	\$60,892	2.8%	\$0	0.0%	\$60,892	2.2%
SF1001	Real Property Taxes	\$154,000	7.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$154,000	5.5%
SL1001	Real Property Taxes	\$5,820	0.3%	\$0	0.0%	\$5,820	0.2%
	Total Real Property Tax	\$249,419	11.3%	\$115,450	19.3%	\$364,869	13.0%
Payments in	Lieu of Tax						
A1081	In Lieu of Taxes	\$0	0.0%	\$140	0.0%	\$140	0.0%
A1090	Interest & Penalties on Real Prop. Tax	\$50	0.0%	\$300	0.1%	\$350	0.0%
	Total Interest and Penalties on Real Prop. Tax	\$50	0.0%	\$440	0.1%	\$490	0.0%
Non-Proper							
B1113	Occupancy Tax	\$200	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$200	0.0%
A1120	Non-Property Distribution by County	\$480,432	21.8%	\$111,000	18.6%	\$591,432	21.1%
B1120	Non-Property Distribution by County	\$64,496	2.9%	\$0	0.0%	\$64,496	2.3%
DA1120	Non-Property Distribution by County	\$285,000	13.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$285,000	10.2%
DB1120	Non-Property Distribution by County	\$140,210	6.4%	\$0	0.0%	\$140,210	5.0%
A1130	Utilities Gross Receipts Tax	\$0	0.0%	\$5,000	0.8%	\$5,000	0.2%
A1170	Franchise Tax	\$7,800	0.4%	\$1,000	0.2%	\$8,800	0.3%
	Total Franchise Tax	\$978,138	44.5%	\$117,000	19.6%	\$1,095,138	39.1%
General Gov	vernment						
A1255	Clerk/Medical Examiners Fee	\$1,400	0.1%	\$50	0.0%	\$1,450	0.1%
	Total General Government	\$1,400	0.1%	\$50	0.0%	\$1,450	0.1%
Health							
A1603	Vital Statistics Fees	\$200	0.0%	\$50	0.0%	\$250	0.0%
	Total Health	\$200	0.0%	\$50	0.0%	\$250	0.0%
Home and C	Community Services						
B2110	Zoning Fees	\$3,400	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$3,400	0.1%
A2130	Refuse and Garbage	\$50,000	2.3%	\$0	0.0%	\$50,000	1.8%
F1-2140	Metered Water Sales	\$19,805	0.9%	\$0	0.0%	\$19,805	0.7%
F2-2140	Metered Water Sales	\$101,041	4.6%	\$0	0.0%	\$101,041	3.6%
F3-2140	Metered Water Sales	\$413	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$413	0.0%
F4-2140	Metered Water Sales	\$17,192	0.8%	\$0	0.0%	\$17,192	0.6%
F5-2140	Metered Water Sales	\$33,125	1.5%	\$0	0.0%	\$33,125	1.2%
G2140	Debt Service	\$0	0.0%	\$95,754	16.0%	\$95,754	3.4%
F2140.1	Metered Water Sales	\$0	0.0%	\$112,168	18.8%	\$112,168	4.0%
F2140.2	O&M Charge (DCC and O&M)	\$0	0.0%	\$35,439	5.9%	\$35,439	1.3%
G2142	Unmetered Water Sales	\$0	0.0%	\$19,500	3.3%	\$19,500	0.7%
F2144	Meter Sales	\$0	0.0%	\$72	0.0%	\$72	0.0%
F2145	Service Connection	\$0	0.0%	\$600	0.1%	\$600	0.0%
F2148	Interest and Penalties	\$0	0.0%	\$2,000	0.3%	\$2,000	0.1%
F1-2148	Interest and Penalties	\$100	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$100	0.0%
F2-2148	Interest and Penalties	\$1,000	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$1,000	0.0%
F4-2148	Interest and Penalties	\$200	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$200	0.0%
F5-2148	Interest and Penalties	\$100	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$100	0.0%
G2148	Interest and Penalties	\$0	0.0%	\$2,100	0.4%	\$2,100	0.1%
A2149	Coin Meter	\$8,000	0.4%	\$0	0.0%	\$8,000	0.3%
A2150	Recyclables	\$6,000	0.3%	\$0	0.0%	\$6,000	0.2%
-	Total Home and Community Services	\$240,376	10.9%	\$267,633	44.8%	\$508,009	18.2%
Transportat		6450.000	6.001		0.001	¢150.000	E 401
DA2300	Services to Other Gov	\$150,000	6.8%	\$0	0.0%	\$150,000	5.4%
DB2300	Services to Other Gov	\$680	0.0%		0.0%	\$680	0.0%
	Total Transportation	\$150,680	6.8%	\$0	0.0%	\$150,680	5.4%

Code	Description	Lyme Town Budget 2012	% of Town Total	Chaumont Village Budget 2011- 2012	% of Village Total	Community Total	% of Community
Use of Mor	ney and Property						
A2401	Interest & Earnings	\$2,400	0.1%	\$150	0.0%	\$2,550	0.1%
DA2401	Interest & Earnings	\$1,000	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$1,000	0.0%
DB2401	Interest & Earnings	\$1,000	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$1,000	0.0%
F2401	Interest & Earnings	\$0	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$0	0.0%
F1-2401	Interest & Earnings	\$100	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$100	0.0%
F2-2401	Interest & Earnings	\$200	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$200	0.0%
F4-2401	Interest & Earnings	\$100	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$100	0.0%
G2401	Interest & Earnings	\$0	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$0	0.0%
F5-2410	Interest & Earnings	\$100	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$100	0.0%
DA2416	Rental of Equipment	\$50,000	2.3%	\$0	0.0%	\$50,000	1.8%
	Total Use of Money and Property	\$54,900	2.5%	\$150	0.0%	\$55,050	2.0%
Licenses ar	nd Permits						
A2540	Bingo Fees	\$0	0.0%	\$500	0.1%	\$500	0.0%
A2590	Permits, Other	\$0	0.0%	\$1,000	0.2%	\$1,000	0.0%
	Total Licenses and Permits	\$0	0.0%	\$1,500	0.3%	\$1,500	0.1%
Fines and F	orfeited Bail						
A2610	Fines and Forfeited Bail	\$3,500	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$3,500	0.1%
<u> </u>	Total Fines and Forfeited Bail	\$3,500	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$3,500	0.1%
	perty and Compensation for Loss	¢4.500	0.00/	ćo.	0.00/	<u> </u>	0.20/
A2650	Sales of Scrap & Excess Materials	\$4,500	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$4,500	0.2%
A2660	TMB Lot Sales	\$500	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$500	0.0%
NAta a Illava a	Total Sale of Property and Compensation for Loss	\$5,000	0.2%	\$0	0.0%	\$5,000	0.2%
Miscellane			0.00/	40	0.001		0.00/
A2702	Miscellaneous income	\$100	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$100	0.0%
A2770	Miscellaneous income	\$0	0.0%	\$500	0.1%	\$500	0.0%
F1-2770	Miscellaneous income	\$300	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$300	0.0%
F2-2770	Miscellaneous income	\$300	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$300	0.0%
F4-2770	Miscellaneous income	\$200	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$200	0.0%
F5-2770	Miscellaneous income	\$300	0.0%	\$0	0.0%	\$300	0.0%
G2770	Connection Fees	\$0	0.0%	\$8,200	1.4%	\$8,200	0.3%
CI I A' I	Total Miscellaneous	\$1,200	0.1%	\$8,700	1.5%	\$9,900	0.4%
State Aid		40	0.00/	44.500	0.001	44.500	0.20/
A3001	State Revenue Sharing	\$0	0.0%	\$4,500	0.8%	\$4,500	0.2%
A3005	Mortgage Tax	\$40,000	1.8%	\$3,500	0.6%	\$43,500	1.6%
A3501	CHIPS	\$0	0.0%	\$31,850	5.3%	\$31,850	1.1%
DB3501	CHIPS	\$100,000	4.5%	\$0			1
	Total State Aid	\$140,000	6.4%	\$39,850	6.7%	\$179,850	6.4%
	ed Fund Balance	6000 0C-	40.000	- t-	0.051	6005.055	0.65
A910	Unreserved Fund Balance - Appropriated	\$225,000	10.2%	\$0	0.0%		8.0%
DA910	Unreserved Fund Balance - Appropriated	\$150,000	6.8%	\$0	0.0%	\$150,000	5.4%
G910	Unreserved Fund Balance - Appropriated	\$0	0.0%	\$17,000	2.8%		0.6%
	Total Appropriated Fund Balance	\$375,000	17.0%	\$17,000	2.8%	\$392,000	14.0%
User Fee In						4	
G	Increase in Sewer Rates	\$0	0.0%	\$30,146	5.0%		1.1%
	Total User Fee Increase	\$0	0.0%	\$30,146	5.0%	\$30,146	1.1%

Appendix B



Town of Lyme Teamster Contract summary

	Summary of Contract between Lyme & Teamster Local 687					
Area	Agreement					
11-11-1	12 designated holidays. Working on a holiday entitled employee to holiday pay plus 1.5 x pay for					
Holiday	all hours worked that day.					
	Employment time - Vacation time					
	1 yr - 1 week					
	3 yrs - 2 weeks					
Vacation	5 yrs - 3 weeks					
	12 yrs - 4 weeks					
	20 yrs - 5 weeks					
	Can be taken in 1/2 day increments.					
Sick Leave						
	Earn 1.25/month (15 per year), can accumulate up to 200 days. Paid at 50% upon retirement.					
Personal Leave	3 personal days/year					
Bereavement Leave	3 days for immediate family					
Jury Duty						
July Duty	Employee receives normal pay, but must reimburse the Town any pay received from the court.					
Retirement	NYS Retirement system plan					
Hours	8 hrs/day Mon-Fri. (7:30-4 regular, 6:30-5 in summer). Hwy Supt. Has right to modify with 2 weeks					
	notice. Employees guaranteed 40 hrs/week minimum.					
Overtime	Hours worked beyond 8/day or 40/week are paid at 1.5 x normal pay. During summer hours,					
	overtime begins after 10 hrs/day. Offered by seniority on rotating basis.					
Call-in time	Guaranteed 2 hours pay at 1.5x					
Clothing Allowance	Provided by employer:					
	10 shirts, 5 pants, 1 hat, 1 jacket, 1 coverall, \$200 for approved shoes.					
	For full time employees, Town agrees to pay per week:					
	Single: \$120.20 (2010), \$131.65 (2011), \$143.70 (2012)					
	2 Person: \$234.10 (2010). \$256.85 (2011), \$280.70 (2012)					
Health & Hospital	Family: \$319.40 (2010), \$350.65 (2011), \$383.40 (2012)					
	Employees pay percent of insurance cost as follows:					
	12% (2010), 16% (2011), 20% (2012)					
	2010: MEO - \$17/hr, Hwy Deputy - \$17/hr					
Wages	2011: MEO - \$17.35/hr, Hwy Dep - \$17.35/hr					
	2012: MEO \$17.85/hr, Hwy Dep - \$17.85/hr					
Shift Differential	Second shift (7:30pm-4am) receives additional \$.50/hr					
Contract Duration	1/1/10-12/31/12					

Appendix C



Village of Chaumont and Town of Lyme Assets List

Village Equipment List

Equipment	Year	Department
Ford F150	2001	Water
Zero Turn Mower	2009	Grounds maintenance – General Highway
Ford Ranger	1998	Sewer
(6) Honda Generators	2002	Sewer
Tractor w/brushhog & backhoe	1985	General Highway
Push Mower	2002	General Highway
International Garbage Truck	1998	General Highway
Trailer Mounted Generators	2002	Sewer
(2) generators	2002	Sewer
Honda Trash Pump	1998	Water

EQUIPMENT FLOATER LIMITS

TYPE OF EQUIPMENT	/DEDUCTIBLE:
POLICY TERM:	03/09/11 to 03/09/12
INSURER:	Argonaut Insurance Company
INSURED:	Town of Lyme

Special Cause of Loss Form. \$500 Deductible. \$200,000 Leased/Rented Unscheduled Equip.

UNSCHEDULED EQUIPMENT (\$250 Deductible applies):

DESCRIPTION	MAXIMUM ITEM AMT.	AMT. OF INS.
Misc.Tools & Equipment	\$1,000	\$75,000

SCHEDULED EQUIPMENT:

ITEM #	YEAR	ITEM DESCRIPTION	VEHICLE I.D.	AMOUNT OF INS. (\$)
-1-	1986	JOHN DEERE TRACTOR		33,000
-2-	1974	FWD SNOWBLOWER		35,000
-3-	1997	SAMSUNG LOADER SL 150		110,000
-4-	1988	CATERPILLAR DOZER D5H		80,000
-5-	1984	FRINK SANDER		3,500
-6-	1990	WOODCHUCK CHIPPER		14,500
-7-	1998	ROBERTS 14' SLIDE IN SANDER		4,895
-8-		7'6" FISHER PLOW W/ATTACHMENTS		1,500
-9-		(3)FRINK 12' WING W/ ARMS @ \$2,540 EA.		6,780
-10		(5)FRINK 14' WING W/ARMS @ \$2,540 EA.		12,700
-11		(4) FRINK ONE-WAY PLOWS @ \$5,000 EA.		20,000
-12		(1) FRINK 13' "V" PLOW		8,720
-13		(2) FRINK 12' "V" PLOWS @ \$8,420 EA.		16,840
-14		(2) VIKING 14' WING W/ARMS @ \$2,765 EA.		5,530
-15		(1) VIKING ONE-WAY PLOW		4,595
-16		(10) TWO-WAY RADIOS W/BASE		5,500
-17	1999	ELITE PRESSURE WASHER		4,000
-18	1986	TRANSIT LEVEL		600
-19	1986	GAS WELDER		1,800
-20		CARDBOARD CRUSHER		6,300
-21		5,000 KILOWATT GENERATOR		12,000
-22		(2) MITSUBISHI 5800 GENERATORS @ \$1,900		3,800
		EA.		
-23		(10) DEVILBIFF 5000 GENERATORS @ \$1,300		13,000
		EA.		
-24		(3) VOTING MACHINES @ \$2,150 EA.		6,450
-25		HUSKY CHAIN SAW 20" BAR		740
-26		POWER TRIMMER W/ EXTENSION		600

-27		(2) 365 HUSKY CHAIN SAWS @ \$540 EA.		1,080
-28		HOMELITE ROAD CUTTER		565
-29	1985	AIR COMPRESSOR		2,500
-30	1985	HYDRAULIC PRESS		2,500
-31		LINCOLN ELECTRIC WELDER SP 250		1,800
-32		JET BAND SAW		500
-33		HYD POWER PAL		500
-34		INGERSOLL-RAND T-30 COMPRESSOR		2,500
-35		BLACKMAL POWERMATE 5HP 2 STAGE		1,800
-36	1998	SAMSUNG EXCAVATOR MDL SE170W-3	EJY0017	132,000
-37	1999	AIR-FLO BODY MDL AF24D	201001/	5,235
-38		(4) 40 CUBIC YARD WASTE CONTAINERS		11,200
-39	2000	Ford NH TL90 Tractor w/Woods 9580 Batwing	001237027	50,000
57	2000	Mower #794474	001237027	50,000
-40		Henderson 14' Sander	MDL FSH-3	6,500
-41		GX160 HONDA TAMPER 5.5HP		1,400
-42		GX160 HONDA MUDSUCKER 5.5HP		1,245
-43		LINCOLN WELDER MIG 255 W/GUN		2,479
-44		ONE (1) INSERT SANDER SPREADER		4,000
		W/GATE		4,000
-45		750 GL. DIESEL + 300 GL. GAS TANKS	\$500	7,200
-+3		CT5003	DEDUCTIBLE	7,200
		C15005	APPLIES	
-46	1994	JOHN DEERE 20HP MOWER F925 W/72"	ALLES	5,000
-40	1994	DECK		5,000
-47		BUCKS FABRICATING RECYCLING		5,200
-4/		CONTAINER		5,200
-48	1990	CONTAINER CHAMPION GRADER W/CUMMINS ENGINE	720 4 177	51 200
-48	1990	CHAMPION GRADER W/COMMINS ENGINE	730A-177- 66320845	51,200
-49		HIGHLANDER 14' SANDER	00520845 01-A-P-8117-A04	5,000
-49 -50	2005	CASE 580M LOADER/BACKHOE	01-A-F-811/-A04	45,516
-50 -51	2005	HENDERSON 13' SANDER		6,200
-51 -52		TARP ASSEMBLY		
				2,200
-53		STAINLESS STEEL PLOW	WELL 25717	4,000
-54		HENDERSON 14' SANDER (FOR '08 MACK)	WSH-25717	14,000
-55		THREE (3) "WELCOME TO TOWN OF LYME"		3,000
50	2000	SIGNS	2016100407	2 000
-56	2008	R2 FAST 6000 RADAR SPEED TRAILER	2816A00487	3,000
-57		HOMEMADE 6' X 21' UTILITY TRAILER		3,500
-58		E2500 13' SANDER		7,085
-59		Welding Mask w/Air Filters		1,800
-60		Manual Jack		1,170
-61		Welding Helmet		1,400
-62		250gal. Water Tank		440
-63		Milwaukee Sawzall		149
-64		Milwaukee Hammerdrill		696
-65		Milwaukee Skill Saw		149
-66		Milwaukee 3/8 Drive Hand Drills (2)		271
-67		Master 165,000 BTU Heater		475
-68		Two (2) Air Jacks		1,600
-69		Box Drill		200
-70		14' Henderson sander mdl. FSHx14x48	FSH-28257	8,814
				819,419

COMMERCIAL AUTOMOBILE POLICY OUTLINE

LIMITS OF LIABILITY:

Bodily Injury & Property Damage (CSL)	\$ 1,000,000 Each Accident
Personal Injury Protection (PIP)	STATUTORY
PIP Deductible	FULL
Add'1. PIP	\$ 100,000
Optional Basic Economic Loss (OBEL)	\$ 25,000
Aggregate No-Fault Benefits Available	\$ 175,000
Uninsured Motorist	\$ 1,000,000 Each Accident
Underinsured Motorist	\$ 1,000,000 Each Accident

Any Auto
Hired Autos
Non-Owned Autos
All Owned Autos Which Required No-Fault Coverage
Owned Autos Subject to Compulsory U.M. Law
Owned Autos Subject to Compulsory U.M. Law
Autos Specified on Schedule
Autos Specified on Schedule

ENDORSEMENTS:

NEW YORK MUTUAL AID: \$1,000,000

VEHICLE SCHEDULE:

VEH	YEAR	MAKE	MODEL	COMP.	COLL.	GARAGE	VEHICLE I.D.	OCN	COST
#				DED.	DED.	LOCATION		(\$)	(\$)
-1-	1986	Mack	Dump	500	500	Chaumont	1M2P137C4GA014044	110,000	776.82
-2-	1991	Mack	Dump	500	500	Chaumont	2M2P273C5MCD00106	110,000	776.82
-3-	1996	Mack	Dump	500	500	Chaumont	1M2P274C5TM001188	130,910	885.70
-4-	1991	Eager Beav	Trailer	500	500	Chaumont	E142857	21,000	313.36
-5-	1973	FMC	Str. Sweeper	500	500	Chaumont	E19976	4,900	229.52
-6-	1990	Borco	Trailer	-0-	-0-	Chaumont	1B9DS31251P137238	-0-	204.00
-7-	2000	Mack	RD 690	500	500	Chaumont	1M2P264C7YM030290	116,825	812.35
-8-	1994	Internat'l	Tractor	500	500	Chaumont	1HSGGCKT0RH537122	28,900	354.49
-9-	2002	Galbreath	Trailer	500	500	Chaumont	1G9F127242A157396	38,000	401.88
-10	2002	Ford	Explorer	500	500	Chaumont	1FMZU73E02ZA11683	13,500	274.30
-11	2006	Ford	F250 Pickup	500	500	Chaumont	1FTSX21576EA88387	27,214	345.71
-12	1999	Dodge	Ram Pickup	500	500	Chaumont	3B7KF26Z8XM551423	20,175	309.06
-13	2008	Mack	Dump	500	500	Chaumont	1M2AX04C08M002447	148,000	974.69
-14	2008	Chevrolet	Dump Body	500	500	Chaumont	1GBJK346X8E190469	44,451	435.47
			Pickup	500	500				
-15	1997	Chevrolet	P30 Van	500	500	Chaumont	1GBKP32Y4V3304483	4,000	224.83
									7,319.00

Highlighted items are Replacement Cost (ten [10] years or newer)

Appendix D



Map of the Village of Chaumont

Appendix D



Sources: CSCIC, ESRI, NASA, NGA, USGS EROS, Jefferson County Real Property, Fort Drum Engineering

Appendix E

APPENDIX E

Public Forum PowerPoint Presentation from June 20, 2012.

















4



















Fire & Emergen	cy Response – Current Cost	to Taxpayers		
Service	Village Tax Rate	Town Tax Rate		
Current Fire Protection	\$1.24/\$1,000	\$1.54/\$1,000		
Current Fuel	\$.05/\$1,000	\$.05/\$1,000		
Current Ambulance	\$.31/\$1,000	\$.31/\$1,000		
Current Fire & Emergency	\$1.60/\$1,000	\$1.90/\$1,000		
Response combined				
Fire & Emergenc	y Response – Projected Cost	to Taxpayers		
Service	Т	Townwide Tax Rate		
Fire Protection	\$1.37/\$1,000			
Fuel		\$.05/\$1,000		
Ambulance (paid to Three Mile Bay	(F.D.)	\$.31/\$1,000		
First Responder (paid to Chaumont	F.D.)	\$.13/\$1,000		
Fire & Emergency Response com	bined	\$1.87/\$1,000		
Source: CGR calculation				





























Impact of Operational Changes and Village Dissolution New Town Projected Tax Rates per \$1,000 Assessed Value				
	Former Village	Former TOV		
Townwide	\$1.44	\$1.44		
Chaumont Street Lighting District	\$1.03	-		
Chaumont Refuse District	\$1.72	-		
Lyme Fire Protection	\$1.37	\$1.37		
Total (without CETC)	\$5.56	\$2.81		
Impact of CETC	-\$0.28	-\$0.28		
TOTAL (with CETC)	\$5.29	\$2.53		

Summary of Projected of Tax Rates for New Town (Compared to Current) per \$1,000 Assessed Value					
	Former Village	Former TOV			
Current	\$10.32	\$2.34			
Dissolution (w/o CETC)	\$5.56	\$2.81			
% change from Current	-46%	20%			
Dissolution (w/CETC)	\$5.29	\$2.53			
% change from Current	-49%	8%			
Note: \$1.68/\$1,000 for TMB street lig	ghting addition	al			

Chaumont Property Assessed at \$50,000 (Figures do not include water and sewer user fees)				
Current Tax Bill for Village	\$516			
Vi	llage \$4			
Town	wide \$4			
Projected Tax Bill without CETC	\$278			
Town	wide \$			
Chaumont Street Lig	hting \$			
Refuse Di	strct \$			
Lyme Fire Prote	ction \$			
Projected Tax Bill with CETC	\$264			

TOV Property Assessed at \$50,000					
(Figures do not include water user fees)					
Current Tax Bill for TOV		\$117			
Townwide			\$40		
Lyme Fire Protection			\$77		
Projected Tax Bill without CETC		\$140			
Т	ownwide		\$72		
Lyme Fire P	rotection		\$68		
Projected Tax Bill with CET	C	\$127			





Appendix F

APPENDIX F

Questions & Answers from the Public Forums on May 1 and June 20, 2012.

Responses to Questions Asked at Study Committee Public Forums

May 1 and June 20, 2012

Q. What is the incentive from the State to dissolve?

A. Current state legislation provides a Citizen Empowerment Tax Credit (CETC) to municipalities as an incentive when 2 local governments consolidate. This tax credit is written in state law as an annual appropriation. The incentive is based on a formula of 15% of the combined property tax levy when the local governments consolidate.

Q. Is the Citizen Empowerment Tax Credit (CETC) a one-time grant or an annual grant?

A. CETC is an annual incentive. However, the CETC is not guaranteed, since it must be authorized by the State Legislature in each annual budget. Based on the past five years' support of funding for the CETC (and its predecessor programs) each year in the annual state budget, it is reasonable to project that such funding will continue. However, to account for the potential that CETC could be eliminated in the future, the tax rate projections developed by the Study Committee were made both including and not including the incentive.

Q. Does the Village of Chaumont pay the cost of the lifeguards at the beach, and how would that change if the Village dissolves?

A. The Village pays for lifeguards at the Beach, however, the municipalities work closely to ensure equitable payment by each if recreational services overlap and are provided by personnel serving both municipalities. If the Village dissolves, recreational services will continue and become a Townwide cost.

Q. Who would be doing the DPW work inside Chaumont if the Village dissolves?

A. The Town would be responsible for snowplowing, street maintenance, beach maintenance, etc. in Chaumont.

Q. What is the effective date of dissolution (per the Dissolution Plan)?

A. If approved by Village voters, dissolution would be effective on January 1, 2014. (Note: during most of the study period, the Study Committee had identified December 31, 2013 as the effective dissolution date in its draft study documents. However, for the Final Report and Dissolution Plan the Study Committee changed the date to be January 1, 2014.)

Q. Will taxpayers in the Town-outside-Village (TOV) see an increase in their property taxes if dissolution were to go through?

A. Very likely. Based on 2012 budgets for the municipalities, taxpayers in the TOV pay a tax rate of \$2.34 per \$1,000. Had the Village been dissolved for that fiscal year, the comparable tax rate would have been \$2.81 without the CETC incentive and \$2.53 with the incentive.

Q. How does the Town of Lyme feel about the dissolution?

A. The Dissolution Plan was developed and approved by a joint Village/Town Study Committee and incorporates Committee recommendations endorsed by the Town Board.

Q. Will there be plowing in the Village if Chaumont dissolves?

A. Yes.

Q. Village residents love having garbage pickup service. Is there a way to be certain that it will continue?

A. If the Villages dissolves, the Town of Lyme will create the Chaumont Refuse District, a special improvement district, so that the cost of providing the service will be paid for by taxpayers receiving the service.

Q. Will a person who resides in the former Village have representation if the Village dissolves?

A. You will continue to have representation on the Town Board, since all residents of the Village are also residents of the Town of Lyme.

Q. There was a recent issue with a cemetery. If the Town Board can't see the common good right in front of you how will you feel about repairing a Village sidewalk?

A. Town councilman answer: Please bring the cemetery issue to the Town Board. I was not aware of this issue until now.

Q. What are the legal costs involved to handle the dissolution if it were to be voted through?

A. The estimate in the Dissolution Plan for legal fees is \$22,000. In other communities where a village has dissolved, their towns have successfully applied for grants from NYS to assist with the implementation. If voters in Chaumont approve dissolution, Town Board members could also apply for this type of grant.